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Thursday, October 9, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

The Board is sitting today in Board file number EB-2014-0002, an application by Horizon Utilities Corporation for a custom incentive regulation rate application, seeking approval for changes to the rates it charges for electricity distribution to be effective January the 1st, 2015 and each year thereafter until December 31st, 2019.


A partial settlement proposal was filed in this matter on September 22nd.  On September 29th, the Board held an oral hearing on the remaining contested issues.  The settlement proposal was presented on October 1st.


A motion has been brought by the city of Hamilton.  As outlined in the Board's letter of September 26th, this motion was adjourned to today's date.


The panel understands that the city of Hamilton and Horizon Utilities wish to conduct cross-examinations on the affidavits which are evidence in the motion.


The panel will begin today's proceeding with that cross-examination.  We will then proceed to hear the city's motion.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. RODGER:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Mark Rodger, counsel for Horizon Utilities, and with me today is my colleague, James Sidlofsky.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger, Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the city of Hamilton.  To my right is Mr. McGuire, the deponent of the affidavits, and to his right is Michael Kovacevic, who is a city solicitor with the city of Hamilton.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Maureen Helt, counsel with the Board, and with me I have Christie Clark, who is the case manager on this matter.  Also, Madam Chair, I can advise that Julie Girvan for Consumers Council of Canada is not in attendance but has filed a submission.  Mr. Crocker for AMPCO also will not be attending today, but he has filed a letter indicating he supports the submission of CCC on the motion.  And in addition, I understand that Tom Brett from BOMA will not be attending today, nor will Mr. Aiken from Energy Probe, but Mr. Aiken did file a letter indicating that he also supports the motion -- or the submission of CCC.  Mr. Janigan is on the telephone.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Janigan, you're there?


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.
MOTION HEARING


So the day that -- the way that we propose to proceed is, Mr. Warren, you will commence with a cross-examination of Mr. Basilio.  And Mr. Basilio, we are going to have you re-affirmed this morning.

HORIZON UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANEL 2


John Basilio, Affirmed.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, please proceed.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, as a matter of housekeeping, the affidavits of Mr. Basilio sworn the 25th of September and of Mr. McGuire sworn the 6th of October, have they been given exhibit numbers?


MS. HELT:  They have not.  They have been filed as part of the motion materials.  We can mark them as exhibits if that is your preference.  I don't know that's necessary.


MR. WARREN:  I don't have a preference.  I just wanted to ensure that they were part of the record.


MS. HELT:  They are already part of the record, as they've been filed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair and members of the panel and Mr. Basilio, if you could have in front of you Mr. Basilio's affidavit sworn the 25th of September and Mr. McGuire's affidavit sworn the 6th of October.  Do you have those materials, Mr. Basilio?


MR. BASILIO:  I do.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Basilio, I'm going to start with paragraph 4 of your affidavit, and in that affidavit, in the third-last line, I quote the following sentence:

"The city of Hamilton, including Mr. McGuire, expressly agreed that as the best and most current evidence available, the results of the SL..."


I presume SL means street light?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes, sir.


MR. WARREN:  "...the SL audit report will be included

in the determination of the street lighting charges Horizon seeks in its custom IR filing."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. BASILIO:  You did.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Basilio, when I read the word "expressly", I presume you deliberately chose the word "expressly" to include it in that sentence?


MR. BASILIO:  I did.


MR. WARREN:  And am I right in my understanding, Mr. Basilio, that when you used the word "expressly", that means that it is -- the statement you are referring to or the agreement you are referring to is unequivocal, clear and unequivocal; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR WARREN:  And I presume that if there were an express agreement that was reflected in writing, if it were effective in writing in notes, minutes, e-mails or whatever, you would have produced those as part of your affidavit; is that fair?


MR. BASILIO:  We may have.


MR. WARREN:  I'm looking at your affidavit, sir, to which there are no attachments.  I return to my question:  If there were an express agreement embodied in writing, in e-mails, minutes, notes, you would have attached that to your affidavit.  Is that not a fair assumption, Mr. Basilio?


MR. BASILIO:  It's a fair assumption if I had been aware of them at the time of the affidavit.  Certainly we should have, if those were there.


MR. WARREN:  And you are relying -- we'll get to the next few paragraphs in your affidavit -- you are relying on what transpired at a meeting held on May 27th, 2013 involving you, among others, Mr. McGuire, among others; is that correct?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And if you were relying on any writing that emerged from that meeting in relation to that meeting, you would have produced it as part of your affidavit; is that not fair?


MR. BASILIO:  However, I am not relying on a written information, I'm relying on my recollection and the recollection of others present at that meeting, so I'm relying largely on my recollection of that meeting as calibrated by other members of Horizon staff at that meeting.  Writing in minutes or otherwise or e-mails certainly would have been after the fact, but my statements here are based on my direct recollections.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to take you, sir, to the events that led to the May 27th meeting, and in that context, could you turn up Mr. McGuire's affidavit, please, and beginning with Exhibit B to that affidavit.


MR. BASILIO:  Is that the October 6th?


MR. WARREN:  Yes, all of my references will be to the October 6th affidavit, Mr. Basilio.


MR. BASILIO:  If you just give me a moment.


I have it.


MR. WARREN:  This is an e-mail that was sent from Mr. McGuire to Max Cananzi.  Mr. Cananzi is the chief executive officer?


MR. BASILIO:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And without belabouring it by going over all of it, would you agree with me -- first of all, have you read the e-mail?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes, I have.


MR. WARREN:  Would you agree with me that it sets out some concerns that the city of Hamilton has, or issues, as Mr. McGuire characterizes them, with the street lighting costs charged to the city by Horizon?  Is that a fair summary of what it does?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes, and in fact, these are ongoing concerns, so this wouldn't have been the first instance that Horizon would have been aware of these concerns.


MR. WARREN:  Those concerns, I take it, would have been outstanding for some period of time; is that correct?


MR. BASILIO:  They would have been discussed for some period of time.  Horizon staff working with the city, I believe as I provided in my opening remarks on this issue, I made a number of statements.  We'd been engaging the city for some time on its concern -- ongoing concerns with respect to its street lighting costs, the basis of those costs, Board policy underlying those costs, and data elements as well.


MR. WARREN:  And we agree when we look at this e-mail that included in the concerns expressed by the city was the fact that it was being charged on a per-light basis.  37,000 I think is the figure that's being charged on a per-light basis, as opposed to a connection basis.  That's one of the concerns expressed by the city; is that right?


MR. BASILIO:  Per device, per light, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Well, there's a difference, isn't there, sir?  Devices are different from lights, are they not?


MR. BASILIO:  I believe so.  I think the principal concern was a per-light basis.


MR. WARREN:  So that if, for example, there were 16,000 devices -- and sir, help me out on this -- your rate sheet authorizes you to charge the city of Hamilton on a per-connection basis or per-device basis?  Connections, isn't it?


MR. BASILIO:  The words in the order are "connection."  However, at a meeting -- this has been an ongoing area of concern, as well, for the city.


MR. WARREN:  If you could just answer my question, sir --


MR. BASILIO:  Well, I believe it requires context, because this is going to the heart of one of the issues that are in the affidavit that has been discussed with Mr. McGuire and city staff at length.


MR. WARREN:  We'll get to that.  You will have every opportunity to answer the question.  My question was a simple one.  Does your rate sheet authorize you to charge on a per-connection basis or a per-light basis?


MR. BASILIO:  The rate sheet states "connection," but I believe it provides us with the authority, as -- if you would allow me to provide context, that would allow us to charge on a per-light basis.


MR. WARREN:  You agree with me that there are fewer connections than there are lights?


MR. BASILIO:  I would agree with that.


MR. WARREN:  So if you are authorized to charge on a per-connection basis but are charging on a per-light basis, you're charging more than you're authorized --


MR. BASILIO:  No, sir.  We are charging on the proper basis, a basis that was -- by an expert, by the way, acknowledged by this Board, explained to Mr. McGuire at a -- at a couple of meetings, but specifically at a meeting on June 16th, 2014 something that Mr. McGuire did not provide on his affidavit, but I do have a presentation here on this specific issue, prepared and provided by an industry expert on this matter Mr. John Todd, that explained the nature of the charge and the nature of confusing use of terminology that has been since been rectified and isn't unique to Horizon Utilities.


MR. WARREN:  Can we get back, sir, to the events leading to the May 27th meeting?  And in the e-mail, which is Exhibit B to the affidavit of Mr. McGuire, one of the concerns expressed was whether or not Hamilton was being charged too much if it were being charged on a per-light basis.


You don't have to agree with it, Mr. Basilio.  Heaven knows you don't have to agree with it, but that is one of the concerns that was reflected in this e-mail; is that not fair?


MR. BASILIO:  It is a fair statement.  The city was concerned it was being charged too much.


MR. WARREN:  And an additional concern expressed in this e-mail was the question of the demarcation point; that is, who owns what part of the lights and connections, and the demarcation point is, for the city of Hamilton -- you don't have to agree with it -- a concern as to who's responsible for the costs on either side of the demarcation point?  That's one of the concerns that was raised?


MR. BASILIO:  That is one of the concerns articulated.  I'll just state that I'm not an expert in this particular area.  I don't have full knowledge of all the issues around that particular point, but certainly it is articulated in the e-mail.


MR. WARREN:  Now, can we then go to the next portion of your affidavit, which deals with the May 27th meeting itself?


And if I look at paragraph 6, you say, and I quote:

"In particular, the daisy chain nature of the city of Hamilton street lighting assets was discussed, along with the implications of this configuration on cost allocation on city of Hamilton street lighting charges."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. BASILIO:  You have.


MR. WARREN:  And would you agree with me in light of the e-mail that preceded it that I've just taken you to, that the concern of the city of Hamilton was whether or not you were, in fact, properly charging for daisy chain or whether or not you were charging on a per-light as opposed to per-connection basis?  That's their concern; you don't have to agree with it.  That was their concern expressed in the meeting, right?


MR. BASILIO:  I think it was a basket of concerns around cost allocation, but specifically the concern around daisy chain was discussed.


MR. WARREN:  And in paragraph 7 of your affidavit, you said that -- I quote:

"We advised Mr. McGuire and city staff that historically Horizon used a daisy chain ratio of 2:1 for all street lighting assets in its licensed distribution territory."


And again, would you agree with me that the city of Hamilton expressed its concern that it was being charged not on a daisy chain basis but on a per-light basis?  They expressed that concern at the meeting?


MR. BASILIO:  No, I wouldn't agree that they were not concerned with the daisy chain ratio.


Again, I would agree that we discussed a number of issues with respect to their street lighting costs, but specifically the daisy chain ratio as well.


MR. WARREN:  I want to take you --


MR. BASILIO:  And the daisy chain ratio in the context of -- as my affidavit goes on -- which resulted in an audit to actually validate the ratio.


MR. WARREN:  We'll get to the audit a little later, but at this point, Mr. Basilio, I want to see if you and I can agree that the issue, as expressed by the city of Hamilton at the meeting, was that you were not charging on a daisy chain basis.


A daisy chain basis would have a charge for a connection and then some lights attached to the connection?  That's what a daisy chain is, is it not?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  So the concern expressed by the city of Hamilton was that you were charging for each of the lights, and not for a connection and something else for the lights?  That's their concern, right?


MR. BASILIO:  I didn't -- that's not the specific -- I think the city was -- the city was seeking clarification on specifically -- on the configuration of a daisy chain, on the notion of demarcation and whatnot.


But no, I don't really separate the two.  I don't know that I can agree with you on that point.  I think the city was quite clear on the notion of daisy chain, and it wasn't the first time that we had articulated this to them.


MR. WARREN:  I'm going to try this one last time, Mr. Basilio.


Mr. McGuire's affidavit expresses, in my understanding, that the difference upon which they wanted clarification was whether or not the charge from the city of Hamilton was for each light, as opposed to a connection and a daisy chain.  That was the difference on which they wanted clarification; is that not fair?


MR. BASILIO:  Again, I think this -- yes, additional clarification.  We were charging on a per-light basis.  Again, I don't think that was the first time that we had articulated that to the city, based on a daisy chain configuration.


MR. WARREN:  In particular, paragraph 9 of your affidavit, first sentence:

"My colleagues and I expressly cautioned Mr. McGuire and city of Hamilton at the May 27th meeting that the outcome of a street light audit could increase city of Hamilton street lighting costs should the ratio be determined to be lower than 2:1."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. BASILIO:  You have.


MR. WARREN:  And in paragraph 10, you say:

"Specifically, Mr. McGuire and city of Hamilton staff attending the May 27th, 2013 meeting agreed that the outcome of the street light audit report was the latest and best information would be included in the determination and basis of Horizon's custom IR filing regarding street lighting rights."


Have I read that correctly?


MR. BASILIO:  You have.


MR. WARREN:  I take it that you have included those two statements because they are important to whatever argument you want to make on the basis of this affidavit?  They are there for a reason; is that not right?


MR. BASILIO:  Sure.  That's a fair -- that's the basis for the affidavit, to make sure the record is complete on this motion.


MR. WARREN:  Yes, you do want a complete record.  I understand that, Mr. Basilio.  Now, let's go to Exhibit F to Mr. McGuire's affidavit.  Mr. McGuire's affidavit -- sorry, Exhibit F --


MR. BASILIO:  If you could just give me a second?


MR. WARREN:  Sure.  Do you have it?


MR. BASILIO:  I have it.


MR. WARREN:  Exhibit F to Mr. McGuire's affidavit are minutes of the May 27th meeting produced by a member of your staff, Kathy Lerette; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  You can -- I believe so.  You could ask Ms. Lerette that directly.  She is here.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have any reason to quarrel with the assertion that these are the minutes prepared by your staff, in particular, Ms. Lerette?  Any reason to challenge the accuracy of that statement?


MR. BASILIO:  No.


MR. WARREN:  And just to cut to it, Mr. -- I assume that the minutes prepared by your staff would have embodied all of the important things that came out of the meeting of May 27th; is that not fair?


MR. BASILIO:  Right.  However, minutes are often summarized; they're not in incredible detail, necessarily.


MR. WARREN:  Surely the minutes --


MR. BASILIO:  But they certainly summarized --


MR. WARREN:  Surely the minutes, even summarizing them, wouldn't have excluded things that you regarded as important?  Express statements, express agreements, they would not have been excluded from the minutes; is that not fair?


MR. BASILIO:  Could you be specific?  Could you provide a reference that I can comment on of a particular item I'm speaking to?


MR. WARREN:  You can help me out.  In paragraph 9 of your affidavit, that you say you express --


MR. BASILIO:  No, sir, could you please point me to something that you feel is missing in the minutes that is of relevance to my affidavit?  I think that's a fair question if you are asking me to comment on it.


MR. WARREN:  I'm getting there, Mr. Basilio, if you will just be patient.  What I'm looking for --


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, you are taking me back to my affidavit?


MR. WARREN:  Starting with your affidavit:

"My colleagues and I expressly cautioned Mr. McGuire at the meeting that the outcome of the street light audit report could increase their street lighting rates."


And then, paragraph 10, that Mr. McGuire and city of Hamilton staff agreed, mutually agreed –- sorry:

"...meeting agreed that the outcome of the street light audit would be included in the determination and basis of Horizon's custom IR filing regarding street lighting rates."


Can you tell me where I can find a reference to either one of those things in Ms. Lerette's version of the minutes?

MR. BASILIO:  You can't.  However, you could ask Ms. Lerette what her recollection is of that meeting.  You could ask Ms. Butany what her recollection is of that meeting.  What I find interesting in Mr. McGuire's affidavit is he makes no statement, as I have, referencing people that attended along with me, to the city finance manager, who was sitting to my right in that meeting, and made a statement to the effect of, We just want the truth.  If the rates go up, they go up.  If they go down, they go down.  Looking for the truth.


So again, there may be items missing from the minutes, but you can obtain the direct testimony, corroborating testimony, from others present in this room on this point.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it you agree with me that neither of the statements referenced in paragraphs 9 and 10 of your affidavit appear in Ms. Lerette's version of the minutes?

MR. BASILIO:  Correct, but I don't see it as relevant.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I'd like you to turn then to Exhibit G to Mr. McGuire's affidavit, and this is Mr. McGuire's -- he responded to Ms. Lerette with his version of what transpired at the meeting.

Do you have any reason to quarrel with that, that this was sent back to Ms. Lerette, and the underlined portion are what Mr. McGuire says transpired at the meeting?

MR. BASILIO:  Again, my name's on the minutes.  I don't know that I reviewed these iterations, but I assume that between the two of them they were working collaboratively on resolving final minutes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I look at, for example, item 1, delivery service charge, Ms. Lerette's wording was "Horizon explained the cost allocation for street lighting", and then Mr. McGuire says -- includes the fact that the DCS -- that's the distribution service charge -- is actually halved.  Do you see that?

MR. BASILIO:  I see it.

MR. WARREN:  The city asked for follow-up on that aspect "and how the billing is being applied as our flat-rate account reflects a one-to-one scenario".  Do you see that?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And my understanding is that Ms. Lerette never responded to these revised versions.  She never challenged the accuracy of what Mr. McGuire said transpired on that point at the meeting.  Do you agree with that?

MR. BASILIO:  I can't -- honestly I can't speak for Ms. Lerette.  I invite you to cross-examine her, if you -- but it's fair to say this.  Mr. McGuire has had ongoing concerns with respect to fully understanding the basis of how our rates are determined, the basis of underlying Board policy, and the completeness and accuracy of the data that goes into the determination of those rates, and I believe he still has those concerns.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, you believe that Mr. McGuire still has those concerns?

MR. BASILIO:  Oh, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  That's helpful.

I want to get to --


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, I didn't catch your last remark.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, that was helpful.  That statement was helpful.  Thank you.  That saves us some time later on.

The -- I want to stay with number 1, Mr. McGuire's version that was sent to Ms. Lerette and with which she didn't quarrel, and this is the DCS actually halved.

And my understanding, Mr. Basilio, is that it returns us to this question of whether or not the city of Hamilton is being charged on a per-light or a per-connection basis, and it's my understanding that if -- according to the city of Hamilton's understanding, is that if it's being charged on a connection basis as opposed to per light, its rates would actually -- the costs would actually be halved, because there are half as many connections as there are lights.  Is that a fair -- do you understand that?

MR. BASILIO:  The dis -- no, actually, I don't, frankly, understand this.  We have told Mr. McGuire countless times that he is being charged on a per-device basis.  I think what he's seeking to do, in fact, is to find some loophole to have his rates cut in half by forcing us to some literal word in a rate order that is quite -- that has been commonly used as device.

MR. WARREN:  So --


MR. BASILIO:  That's what I think.

MR. WARREN:  So --


MR. BASILIO:  We have been over this point, I don't know how many times, in meetings spanning back to 2012 on the nature of our charges, the daisy-chain nature, the basis of charging them, the cost base through the cost allocation model, how that filters through connections, how that base then filters through to devices we have shown him.  We have had an expert show him, I believe on two occasions, the most recent one June 16th, 2014, in detail, coming out of a meeting, where again the city finance manager and the general manager of public works seemed quite satisfied with the explanations, but --


MR. WARREN:  We're dealing with --


MR. BASILIO:  -- here we are again on the device issue.

MR. WARREN:  I'm dealing with your affidavit and what you say came out of the May 27th meeting, and the minutes that went from Ms. Lerette to Mr. McGuire you've agreed didn't include the two statements you refer to in paragraphs 9 and 10 of your affidavit.

Mr. McGuire writes back and says:

"Isn't it possible that our rates may be cut in half?"


And Ms. Lerette didn't disagree with that possibility.

MR. BASILIO:  I don't know that she agreed with it.  Again, I invite you to cross-examine Ms. Lerette on those statements.  Frankly, I don't know their value.  I can't respond to them.  I wasn't party to whether or not she responded.

MR. WARREN:  Now, there was an additional issue that was raised, if I take you back to Exhibit G, which is Ms. Lerette's version of the minutes, under the heading "item 3, good working relationship", and it says:

"Horizon has been waiting up to 317 days for the MC for..."


That's the municipal approval.

"...for Houston Street."


Is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, where are we?

MR. WARREN:  We're in 3 of Ms. Lerette's draft of the minutes.

MR. BASILIO:  This is Exhibit -- this again is Exhibit F, in 3, "municipal consents has been waiting up to 317 days for the MC for Houston Street", yes.

MR. WARREN:  And the concern expressed that this reflects was that the city was being -- was delaying the issuance of permits for necessary construction projects for Horizon.  That's part of that concern; is that fair?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I'm going to take you back -- I apologize for jumping around -- back to G, which is Mr. McGuire's response to that.  And if I take you to the second page of the response, Mr. McGuire responds to the alleged delay of 317 days, in addition to which, in the middle of the page, he compares your alleged time of delays with the status of the application in fact.  Do you see those numbers?

MR. BASILIO:  I do.  I guess I'm just wondering about the relevance of a delay in some project, as opposed to what we're trying to get to here, street lighting costs.

MR. WARREN:  Well, I'm trying to get to the accuracy of the statements that come out of the May 27th meeting, and the minutes that were produced at the meeting.  There was an allegation that the city was consistently delaying the approval of permits, and Mr. McGuire writes back and says:

"The evidence shows that there weren't any substantial delays at all."


And Ms. Lerette never responded to that, did she?

MR. BASILIO:  I have no idea whether she did or didn't, but it is not a component of my affidavit.  My affidavit simply speaks to the street lighting issue.  That's the nature of my affidavit, the basis of charging our street lighting costs and the city's express agreement and acknowledgment that the outcome of that study would be the basis for our rate filing.  That is the nature of my affidavit.

MR. WARREN:  An express agreement that was not reflected anywhere in writing, was it?

MR. BASILIO:  Certainly not that's in front of us.

MR. WARREN:  Well, if it were reflected in writing you would have produced it, right?

MR. BASILIO:  If I had knowledge of it or thought of it I would have, yeah.

MR. WARREN:  What, you didn't think of something when you made the allegations in these affidavits, in this affidavit?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, I thought of my recollection of the meeting, calibrated to others present and referenced here that you can cross-examine for their recollection as well.  I don't see such support from Mr. McGuire's staff in any of his affidavits.

MR. WARREN:  I then take you to paragraph 11 of your affidavit.  And you refer to -- this is the July 19th meeting, at which you were not personally present, right?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And again, in terms of the events leading up to the July 19th meeting, can I take you to Exhibit H to Mr. McGuire's affidavit.  Do you have that?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And this is an e-mail that was sent from Rick Male, whom I -- I apologize, Madam Chair -- I am advised is a senior official in the finance department of the city of Hamilton.  And it was sent to, among others, you and Mr. Cananzi?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And in that affidavit -- sorry, in that e-mail, Mr. Male says that the issues discussed at the May 27th meeting have not been resolved and the city's threatening to withhold payment of outstanding amounts; is that correct?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So as of June 12th, the issues that were discussed in the May 27th meeting were not, as far as the city of Hamilton was concerned, resolved?

MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  The street light audit had not commenced yet.  It -- as mentioned in my affidavit, there was discussion of the street light audit, the notion that really the only way for us to update our cost allocation information would be to undertake an audit, an audit which was jointly undertaken with the city and paid for, as you know, jointly by the city.

It was left, after all of that, whether there -- whether the city would in fact proceed with the audit.  I don't know whether that was because of whether it could find the money or what, but they did decide to do that at the July 19th meeting.

So I think it would be evident from my affidavit that, in fact, we couldn't have addressed all the city's concerns by June 12th.  We hadn't commenced -- we hadn't, in fact, jointly agreed to actually execute on the audit.  And that work proceeded, I believe, through -- I don't know if it was August, September.  I'm sure it is in here somewhere, but it was some time, actually, before the audit was completed.

MR. WARREN:  Certainly -- am I to understand what you are saying to this Panel is that, coming out of the May 27th meeting, that the city had agreed that all of the issues between you would be resolved by this audit?  Is that what you are saying to this Panel?

MR. BASILIO:  No, but that is not the nature of my affidavit.  That is not the statement in my affidavit.

And in fact, I don't know that we could have fully addressed the city's concerns, because the city's concerns, again, went far beyond the mechanical basis for the determination of our rates.  The city rejects the methodology being used for cost allocation.  I think that's apparent.

MR. WARREN:  All I asked you, sir --


MR. BASILIO:  So we could not address the city's concerns.  We could simply not -- and I think the city's principle concern was:  How do I get the rates down?  How do I get the rates down?  That is the objective at the end of the day.  That is a concern that we could not address, because all the evidence -- all the evidence here -- all the evidence in the proceeding, in our application, all the evidence that is the outcomes of these audits and work that we have reviewed and vetted from the city, points in the opposite direction, that, in fact, their costs should be higher.

MR. WARREN:  Could I then turn you to the response you sent to Mr. Male's e-mail?  And that appears at Exhibit I to Mr. McGuire's affidavit.

MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  And under the heading "Connection charge" -- this actually was from you, right?  To Rick Male and copied to others?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, to, I think, all others copied at the May 27th meeting.  Eileen and -- Ms. Campbell and Ms. -- Ms. Parker was there.  No.  Ms. Campbell and Ms. Parker weren't there.  I believe the rest were there.

MR. WARREN:  And under the heading "Connection charge," can I take you to the third full paragraph --


MR. BASILIO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. WARREN:  -- in that?
"There was agreement at the meeting to have further discussion on the future basis for charging street lighting and building off recent proceedings at the Ontario Energy Board."


Are the "recent proceedings" being referred to the EB- 2012-0383 proceeding?

MR. BASILIO:  I believe they were.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I then want to take you to the July 19th meeting itself, which is referred to in paragraph 11 of your affidavit.

MR. BASILIO:  Perhaps we could just -- before we move off of that, I think it's important to review the final paragraph under "Connection charge":

"I also thought we were going to move forward with an inventory count of street lighting connections determined in a manner consistent with the approved basis used by Horizon Utilities for applying its rates and determining street lighting charges.  As you know, this could have implications either way with respect to total city of Hamilton street lighting charges.  I would agree that Horizon Utilities should be applying its street lighting rate to the actual number of street light connections determined based on current approved billing methodology.  If we find validated errors in this number, whether prospectively or retrospectively, within reason, we would generally adjust our billings on a similar basis."


There was no rejection of this.  I did not receive any e-mails back to this, saying:  No, I don't recall that.

This wasn't in the minutes.  The minutes were developed jointly.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So am I to take it from that statement that getting the actual number of street lights is important?

MR. BASILIO:  Well, it is important.  It is important as the billing basis.  It is also important for -- it is one of the components of daisy chain.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. BASILIO:  Connection, lights; the ratio of the two.

MR. WARREN:  And just to complete the record, if you turn up Exhibit J, Mr. McGuire responds to your e-mail.  And he says, among other things, in the third full paragraph:

"We agree you can and should charge us for connections.  However, we don't have a clear grasp of what was contained in the charges."


Do you see that statement?

MR. BASILIO:  I'm sorry, which sentence is that again?  I'm sure it's in here.  I just want to make sure I...

MR. WARREN:  Third full paragraph, the one that begins with the words "We agree", Mr. Basilio, "you can and should charge us for connections."

Okay.

MR. WARREN:  And then the next sentence says:

"However, we don't have a clear grasp of what is contained in the charges."


I take it that reflects the fact that there are a number of outstanding issues between the city of Hamilton and Horizon about the basis for the street light charges?

MR. BASILIO:  There are a variety of issues, as I mentioned, not just the distribution charge but, as well, the energy charge component.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I could take you to the portion of your affidavit beginning at paragraph 11, in which you talk about the July 19th meeting --


MR. BASILIO:  If you could just give me a second to flip back.  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  You were not personally present at the meeting, were you?

MR. BASILIO:  No, I was not.  However, Ms. Lerette led that meeting for Horizon and she is here as well.

MR. WARREN:  You say in the first sentence:

"I am advised and verily believe in the ordinary course..."


These affidavits that say:  "I am advised and verily believe..." who?  Or whom?  Is it Ms. Lerette, Mr. Wynn, Ms. Parker?

MR. BASILIO:  Oh.  I'm advised by Ms. Lerette.

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Lerette would have told you?  Okay.

Now, the -- if I turn you to Exhibit L to Mr. McGuire's affidavit?


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I get the impression -- and please correct me if I'm wrong -- I get the impression from reading paragraph 11 of your affidavit that the only issue that was discussed at the July 19th meeting was the creation of this street light audit.

MR. BASILIO:  Basically it was a continuation of the 27th meeting.  The 27th meeting introduced the notion of the audit, what the audit would generally cover, and this is a continuation.  This is really an agreement to execute the audit.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  But it wasn't the only thing discussed at the July 19th meeting, was it?

MR. BASILIO:  Again, Ms. Lerette is here if you want to cross her.  I suppose that the minutes suggest there are certainly other items discussed.

MR. WARREN:  Certainly if I turn up Exhibit L to it, to --


MR. BASILIO:  Yep.

MR. WARREN:  -- Mr. McGuire's affidavit, it indicates that the agenda said there were a number of other items, including 1B, "Proposed definition of limits of demarcation point for discussion," and C, "Test of demarcation."

Those were issues that were to be discussed as well; correct?

MR. BHASILIO:  Assuming they were the agreed-on minutes, yes.  Again, these are -- these appear to be drafts.

MR. WARREN:  Do you have any reason to quarrel with the accuracy of these minutes, Mr. --


MR. BASILIO:  I don't.  And I'm not trying to argue the point.  Just that I wasn't a party to these minutes.  They appear draft.  I don't know if they've been fully resolved.

MR. WARREN:  And --


MR. BASILIO:  That's all I'm stating.  I wasn't at the meeting.  I think that's a fair statement.

MR. WARREN:  Notwithstanding that, I'm looking at paragraph 11 of your affidavit, in which you assert, unequivocally, that certain things were -- that Mr. McGuire was advised certain things.  It leaves the impression with me -- correct me if I'm wrong, that that's not the impression you want the Board to have, that the central issue, the only issue discussed at that meeting, was this question of the creation of the audit.

MR. BASILIO:  No.  No, that's not my intention in the affidavit.  The intention in my affidavit is really focussed on the basis for the determination of street lighting costs, the fact that, again, it's a continuation, that the only way to address some of the city's concerns with respect to cost -- with respect to cost allocation would be to have some sort of independent verification.

This paragraph just specifically speaks to that.  It's not meant to limit the scope of what was discussed, or be selective about the scope of what was discussed at the July 19th meeting.  It is simply meant to be specific and relevant to the affidavit in the preceding paragraphs.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I turn to the next exhibit, which would be Exhibit M to the affidavit of Mr. McGuire, these are the minutes of the meeting, and just to cut to the essence of it, could you help me -- is there any statement in those minutes to the effect that the city agreed it would be bound by the outcome of the street light audit in the making of the rates -- street light rates?  Any statement in there at all to that effect?


MR. BASILIO:  I'm just going to -- without reading them, I am sure there are not, so I'll just --


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the next paragraph I want to take you to is paragraph 12 of your affidavit, and it says:

"The street light audit report work commenced on July 29, 2013, and a final report was delivered to the city of Hamilton on or about November 7, 2013."


And that's the report of USC, an acronym or initialization for a name I don't recall.


MR. BASILIO:  Utility Solutions Corporation.


MR. WARREN:  Is that the final report you're referring to?


MR. BASILIO:  It's the -- I believe it is the final report, the November 6th, 2013 report.


MR. WARREN:  And you and I can agree that in fact that is not the final report, is it?  In fact, there was a subsequent report prepared by FSB, paid for by the city of Hamilton, that was intended to identify, to correct, deficiencies, defects, things that were missing in the USC report.


MR. BASILIO:  I believe that the -- sorry, it was FSB.


MR. WARREN:  FSB, yes.


MR. BASILIO:  FSB.  So I've discussed the FSB report with my colleagues that were present at the meeting.  What I recall of the report is there was some data issues in the work that Utility Solutions Corporation completed.  This, in fact, is a final report, the Utility Solutions Corporation report.  I believe what FSB found were there -- out of 39,000 and somewhat devices there were 200 data issues, 200 data point issues, something like that, I believe my colleagues informed me.  So --


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, would the correct number be two-and-a-half thousand missing lights?


MR. BASILIO:  I don't believe so.


MR. WARREN:  Well, the FSB report is attached as an exhibit to this, and you can do the count in that.  I'm instructed that the FSB report identified that there were two-and-a-half thousand lights that were incorrectly calculated there, or USC or whatever it is, looked at lights on private property and so on and so forth.


My point is simply this, Mr. Basilio, that when you assert that the USC report was the final report, it is not the final report, is it?


MR. BASILIO:  It is the final report of USC -- of USC.  But there is ongoing work on the data quality.  That work continues today.  That work continues today on --


MR. WARREN:  In fact, there was been no agreement on the outcome of the audit to this day, has there?


MR. BASILIO:  That's correct.  However, we're filing based on the best available evidence.  That's all we can do.  And in fact, I don't believe that all those 2,500 lights should come out.  Those are things that we're still working through together.


It is our view that many of those should remain billed.  These are areas for further determination, and in fact that's the way the process works.  In the report of the Board, section 3.1.4, the way we update our records is we receive information from the city, and then we have to go about and validate it.  We haven't agreed to the outcome of the FSB -- FSB.  Sorry, I keep forgetting the acronym.  That is something we are still working through.


But the notion that we should not be billing 2,500 devices, we have not agreed on that.  We think we should be billing many of those devices, but that is ongoing investigation.


MR. WARREN:  When you swore this affidavit, paragraph 12, were you aware, sir, of the FSB report?


MR. BASILIO:  I probably was.  I mean, I just can't recall.  What I know is that the audit was concluded, but that's with the notion that there still remain a number of data issues that we're working through, and that's the nature of this process.  Cities put up street lights.  Some of these street lights are very old.  Some of them come down.


The only way we can update our records is if we get knowledge from the city, if we're provided with information from the city which we verify.  That is the process.  That's Board policy.  It is specified in 3.1.4 of EB-2012-0383.  We are still working through it.


But we filed the application based on the best available evidence that we had at the time, and we think it's reasonably accurate.


And I have stated, Mr. Warren, that should we find that we've been incorrectly billing -- and this is with knowledge -- that we don't know on any given day -- it's very -- frankly, it's impossible to know on any given day, to the precision of 1, how many street lights we should be billing for.  The city is putting up and taking down street lights all the time.


MR. WARREN:  Done, Mr. Basilio?  Because I want to get back to the first question I asked you, which is:  When you swore this affidavit and you said that the final report was delivered, were you aware of the FSB report?


MR. BASILIO:  I believe I was.  Again, my knowledge was the audit was complete from my staff.  It's been a while, but my statement would be the audit was reasonably complete.


MR. WARREN:  So if you were aware of it, sir, why would you not have included it in your affidavit instead of creating the impression that the audit was done on November 7th?  Why would you not have included the statement that there was an ongoing dispute about the accuracy of the audit?  I'm puzzled by that --


MR. BASILIO:  Sir, what I have said in my affidavit is that we were going to undertake an audit, and the audit would be the basis of our filing.  I did not say anywhere in my affidavit that there were not ongoing issues on these matters.


MR. WARREN:  Let me take you to the second sentence of paragraph 12:

"As Mr. McGuire and COH staff agreed, the findings of this study..."


That's the USC study:

"...were to be included in the basis of the street lighting rates proposed in the custom IR application before the Board in this proceeding."


MR. BASILIO:  Well, my statement is the street light audit report --


MR. WARREN:  I haven't asked you a question yet.


MR. BASILIO:   Sorry, oh, sorry.


MR. WARREN:  When you say "this study":

"This study refers to USC and it is not completed.  There were material defects and a second report was required."


Again, I come back to my question:  Why was that not included in your affidavit, sir?


MR. BASILIO:  Firstly, I don't know that we have material defects in the audit.  We have ongoing areas that we're working through for very practical reasons.  I suppose it should have been provided in my affidavit.  It wasn't an act of omission, it was --


MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to paragraph --


MR. BASILIO:  And sorry, just before -- I just want to complete my answer to the question.  At the time of the May meeting I wasn't involved in the development of the -- in the details of the development of the audit scope.  At this point in time I didn't know USC was going to be undertaking the audit.  I'm simply referring to a street light audit report, whatever form that may take, whoever might be providing it, and how many parts.


MR. WARREN:  So in your paragraph 12, where you refer to "this study", it is not the USC report, it is whatever the final outcome is, even though you don't mention that.  Is that what we're to understand?


MR. BASILIO:  It would be whatever street light audit report came out of the process.


MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to paragraph -- sorry, to Exhibit P to the affidavit of Mr. McGuire.


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, just before -- I want it -- the time line here is also very important here, because we advise the city that this work would need to be completed -- and I don't -- and it wasn't, but we really needed the work by the end of August.  This report's dated November.  We had to complete our cost allocation study at this point.


As you can appreciate, a five-year custom IR application, the totality of the evidence, we can't wait until the last possible minute to compile the information and file -- to prepare a cost allocation report.


MR. WARREN:  This affidavit was sworn on the 25th of September, two weeks ago.  And you didn't mention the fact that the audit wasn't yet completed.  Isn't that the relevant time line, Mr. Basilio, in terms of what you present to this Board?


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Basilio has already answered that question.  He said in his view the audit report was completed as of July.


MR. WARREN:  Can I take you to the Exhibit P to Mr. McGuire's affidavit.  Can you identify for the Board who Shelly Parker is?


MR. BASILIO:  Shelly Parker is the director of customer service.


MR. WARREN:  This is an e-mail that Ms. Parker sent to Mr. McGuire and Kathy Lerette, among others, on August 7th of this year, two months ago.  It says, and I quote:

"Hello, Gord.  Horizon Utilities is equally invested in and committed to the resolution of the connections audit.  The connections audit was undertaken at considerable expense to both parties with the principal intended outcome to be the verification of installed street lighting assets.  It is vital that the audit be completed."


Two months ago, a member of your staff conceded that the audit wasn't yet done; correct?


MR. BASILIO:  We had not finalized -- and again, as I've mentioned, for practical reasons it is very difficult to determine the number of street lights with total precision.


The 2,500 in question, as I understand it from my colleagues -- again, Ms. Lerette is here and can speak to these things more specifically, which may be of value to the Energy Board.  My understanding is these are devices, legacy devices that have been put up years ago that the city believes it should not be charged for.  We need verification of that.  It is not something that that's easily done.


MR. WARREN:  Can they --


MR. BASILIO:  They could all be there.


MR. WARREN:  Could we not agree, sir, that without the audit being done, you cannot resolve the following issues?


You can't resolve with finality the ratio of connections to devices.  You cannot resolve what the demarcation point is for purposes of ownership, and therefore you cannot resolve the question of the responsibility for costs as between the city and Horizon on either side --


MR. BASILIO:  I can within the realm of materiality.  I think is -- certainly accountants would appreciate audits are undertaken within the realm of materiality.  It is based on testing, counts, those sorts of things.  From our perspective within -- in our judgment, which is the judgment rendered in the application, in our judgment, within a reasonable amount of materiality, we had proper evidence to support cost allocation in our application.


I am not admitting here -- and I think you've heard that -- that I don't know to -- one, the number of street light devices connected to our system.  That's the basis of ongoing work.  There are very practical reasons for that, reasons acknowledged in the Board's report of December 19th, 2013.


We can't know.  We have to work with the city.  We've been doing that.  We've been doing that since 2008.  And on these specific issues of Mr. McGuire's, 2012.


MR. WARREN:  You know, I want to get back to a point you made earlier in response to one of my questions, when you say it's Mr. McGuire's issue.


You said getting the numbers right was critical, and I'm going to suggest to you that you don't yet have the numbers right.  Your own staff member, Shelly Parker, conceded you don't have the numbers right.  The audit isn't completed.


MR. BASILIO:  Shelly is saying there is additional work to do.  We have had I don't know how many communications with the city, how many meetings over the past two years on these issues.  There are practical issues here that we are working through that, in my view, in no way invalidate our evidence in this proceeding.


MR. WARREN:  I want to take you to paragraph 14 of your affidavit.  It says:

"The proposed street lighting rates currently before the Board as part of Horizon's custom IR application...."


MR. BASILIO:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, I missed the reference.


MR. WARREN:  Paragraph 14 of your affidavit.


MR. BASILIO:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  "The proposed street lighting rates

currently before the Board as part of Horizon's custom IR application are directly responsive to and informed by the city of Hamilton's identified preference that a street light audit be undertaken."


Even if that statement were true, sir --


MR. BASILIO:  It is true.


MR. WARREN:  -- the audit --


MR. BASILIO:  Unequivocally.


MR. WARREN:  If the city of Hamilton had a preference for the street light audit, the city of Hamilton's preference would be that the audit be completed, that you have the accurate numbers; is that not fair?  Or did the city of Hamilton agree to a half-baked, incomplete audit?


MR. BASILIO:  No.  However, Horizon Utilities has to render judgment as to what evidence goes into its application.


The basis of my affidavit is that the city of Hamilton agreed to a street light audit.  They acknowledged and agreed, and the fact is that all evidence to date demonstrates that their rates should go up, rather than down.


I'd be very interested to know whether I would be here if, in fact, the evidence resulted in their rates going down.


MR. WARREN:  When I look at paragraph 14, the impression that it creates -- and help me if I'm wrong -- the impression it creates is that the only issue -- that the result of the street light audit would resolve all of the concerns of the city of Hamilton.  Is that the impression you want to create by paragraph 14?


MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely not.  As I mentioned earlier, the city had a variety of issues, including its energy charge.  I believe the subject of that is somewhere in Mr. McGuire's affidavit.  We were strictly addressing the street light cost allocation, the number of lights, the daisy chain ratio, and other items in that report.


MS. LONG:  Do you need a moment, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I don't.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I think what we'll do is take a 15-minute break to allow a changeover of the affiants.  Mr. Warren, you can get your witness ready and we'll have him affirmed when we come back.


I'm assuming you have nothing that you need to ask Mr. Basilio at this point.


MR. RODGER:  No, I don't, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  So we'll be back at 10:45.  Mr. McGuire, you will then be cross-examined on your affidavit.
--- Recess taken at 10:31 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:51 a.m.


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.


Mr. McGuire, Dr. Elsayed is going to come over and ask you to make an affirmation.
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Gord McGuire, Affirmed.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rodger, are you ready to proceed?


MR. RODGER:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Mr. McGuire, I'm Mark Rodger.  I'm counsel for Horizon Utilities Corporation.  I'd like to start -- in your various affidavits you state your position as the manager of Geomatics and Corridor Management in the Department of Public Works with the city of Hamilton; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  I'm sorry?


MR. McGUIRE:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  How long have you been in that position?


MR. McGUIRE:  I've been with the city 20 years, various roles.


MR. RODGER:  How long have you been in the position you've just described to me, your current role?


MR. McGUIRE:  Three or four years.


MR. RODGER:  Three or four years.


And I note from your October 6th affidavit, in paragraph 4, you state:

"My responsibilities in this area are, first, to understand how the costs of street light services are derived and, second, to control or reduce those costs, if possible.  The overall objective is to try to limit the burden of street light costs on the overall budget of the city of Hamilton."


Is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And Mr. McGuire, in carrying out your responsibilities as you've just described them, as to control or reduce street lighting costs, has the city of Hamilton imposed any parameters or limitations on how you go about pursuing your objective?


MR. McGUIRE:  They have not.


MR. RODGER:  So is your approach -- you're going to do whatever you can to reduce street lighting costs.


MR. McGUIRE:  We need to rationalize and report back to senior management on budgets.


MR. RODGER:  But you'll do what you can, right?


MR. McGUIRE:  Review every avenue.


MR. RODGER:  But you'll do what you can, right?


MR. McGUIRE:  Review every avenue.


MR. RODGER:  Will you do everything you can or not?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe I've answered that.


MR. RODGER:  Now, you also say in your affidavit that -- in paragraph 4.  This is back to the September affidavit -- that you're a member of the OEB's unmetered scattered load working group, right?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  When were you appointed to that group?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe it's an ad hoc membership.


MR. RODGER:  When were you appointed to that working group?


MR. McGUIRE:  I've attended a few meetings on that behalf.


MR. RODGER:  And for the third time, and when were you appointed to that working group, Mr. McGuire?


MR. McGUIRE:  Which affidavit are you referring to?


MR. RODGER:  The September 22nd, paragraph 4.  It reads:

"I am a member of the OEB's unmetered scattered load working group."


MR. McGUIRE:  I don't seem to have that affidavit in front of me.  I have the amending motion --


MR. RODGER:  Well, surely, Mr. McGuire, you don't need the affidavit in front of you to know whether you're a member of the --


MS. LONG:  Well, let's take a moment so that Mr. McGuire has the affidavit in front of him.


Do you have that now, Mr. McGuire?


MR. RODGER:  And it is paragraph 4 --


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  So you are a member of the -- that's right, what you said there in your affidavit?


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  You're a member of --


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RODGER:  When did you get appointed to this working group?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe in late August.


MR. RODGER:  Of which year?


MR. McGUIRE:  2014.


MR. RODGER:  And in your supplementary attachments to that September 22nd affidavit, I understand that Tom Chessman is identified as the city of Hamilton member on this committee; is that right?


MR. McGUIRE:  In the preliminary review of EB-2012-383 Tom Chessman was our representative.


MR. RODGER:  And you replaced then Mr. Chessman, did you?


MR. McGUIRE:  Mr. Chessman is no longer with -- yes, I would have.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, going back to your paragraph 4 in the September 22nd affidavit, you say that -- and you're talking now about your role on the working committee group, the scattered -- unmetered scattered load working group.  You say:

"In that capacity I will be one of the people who will be working with Navigant to provide information that will assist Navigant in undertaking the study and preparing..."


You say "repairing", but I assume that says "preparing the report"; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  And given your responsibilities and the objective that you've stated to attempt to do what you can to reduce street lighting costs, do I take it -- is it fair to say that you're going to be working on this working group, this OEB working group, as an advocate for an outcome in that Navigant study that goes towards lowering the city of Hamilton's street lighting costs; is that fair?


MR. McGUIRE:  I wouldn't position myself as an advocate, simply an input.


MR. RODGER:  Input.  So you see yourself as an impartial observer on that working committee?


MR. McGUIRE:  I will be working with Navigant to provide information.


MR. RODGER:  Are you impartial?


MR. McGUIRE:  Reasonably.


MR. RODGER:  Reasonably?  Okay.


And so I understand again from paragraph 4 that you are going to help Navigant undertake the study and then ultimately repair (sic) the report.  Are you going to be drafting parts of the report?


MR. McGUIRE:  I will not.


MR. RODGER:  Will you be providing comments, edits to the report?


MR. McGUIRE:  The roles weren't fully defined, and I believe still aren't fully defined.  We've had a preliminary conversation with Navigant.


MR. RODGER:  All right.  But you would agree with me, Mr. McGuire, given all the information you've filed here, and given your objective, your job description is to, in part at least, reduce costs for the city of Hamilton.  That -- for you, there really only is one outcome to that Navigant report, and that is, the city of Hamilton street lighting costs have got to be lowered.


MR. McGUIRE:  No.


MR. RODGER:  No.  So you would be content if the issue went the other way?  You'd have no further concerns about it?


MR. McGUIRE:  The Navigant report -- and I'm not fully versed right now with the entire scope of it -- will follow on from the unmetered load report, which sought to clarify terminology, methodology, and a variety of other things.


So the Navigant report should help extend clarity into the street light rate class.


MR. RODGER:  But I put to you, sir, that if the Navigant report outcome was either your status quo, street lighting rates are fine, or Horizon's proposed street lighting rates in this application, that to you would be a failure situation, because it is not going to reduce your street lighting costs; is that fair?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's not true.


MR. RODGER:  So you are willing to accept whatever comes out of these independent third-party reports then.


MR. McGUIRE:  Absolutely.


MR. RODGER:  Now, turning to -- this is -- it's not marked as an exhibit, but it's attached to your October 6th affidavit.  It's the first letter after your affidavit.  It's -- I guess it's -- I'm not sure if it's -- it might be Exhibit A.  It is the January 16th, 2013 letter from you to the Energy Board.  Do you have that at all, sir?


MR. McGUIRE:  I do.


MR. RODGER:  And if you go to the very bottom paragraph of your letter, you state:

"Past street lighting rate class adjustments were brought forward to and approved by the OEB in the absence of any ratepayer municipal consultation, which eliminated any possibility to fiscally manage and prepare municipal energy budgets."


When you make reference to "past street lighting rate adjustments", what time period are you talking about?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe that was the 2007/2008 rate filing.


MR. RODGER:  2007 and 2008?  And is it your position with this letter that you filed with the Energy Board that the city of Hamilton had no consultations with you or with the city about street lighting issues in the past?


MR. McGUIRE:  With me?


MR. RODGER:  Or with your colleagues.


MR. McGUIRE:  I can't speak to that.  I can tell you that there are reports to council regarding budget increases.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So when the Energy Board reads your letter of January 16th, when you say there was no consultation, this is just your personal opinion?  It is not the city of Hamilton's position; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  No, that's not correct.


MR. RODGER:  So it is the city of Hamilton's position?


MR. McGUIRE:  That there were rate increases in the past that we were unaware of.


MR. RODGER:  That you were unaware of?  Okay.  So...


MR. McGUIRE:  I think that's further in the discussions, to look for more consultation.


MR. RODGER:  So it's your evidence, sir, that for at least for the past few years, the city of Hamilton has had no indication that its own utility is going forward with the rate application to the Ontario Energy Board?


MR. McGUIRE:  No.


MR. RODGER:  So what are you saying, then, in that regard?  You're saying in this letter here to the Energy Board that:

"Past street lighting rate class adjustments were brought forward to and approved by the Ontario Energy Board in the absence of any ratepayer municipal consultation, which eliminated any possibility to fiscally manage or prepare municipal energy budgets."

So is your evidence that the city of Hamilton over the past few years has had no knowledge that Horizon was bringing forward rate applications?


MR. McGUIRE:  My understanding from our project managers, people managing the budgets, is the operating budgets were prepared in advance, in our budget cycle, in a period that Horizon would have been -- or Hydro One delivering rate filings, and we were unaware of the proposed increases.


MR. RODGER:  Now --


MR. McGUIRE:  At the street lighting project management and budget-setting levels.


MR. RODGER:  If I could turn you to Exhibit C of your latest affidavit -- and this was referred to earlier by Mr. Warren -- this is the e-mail to you from Mr. Cananzi, the president and CEO.


And in that e-mail, if you go down four paragraphs, Mr. Cananzi writes:

"FYI, previously we have worked with the city of Hamilton on the issue you raised with regard to one-to-one connection versus daisy chain, and I was under the impression that this was fully explored and understood by city staff as to the physical aspects of the Hamilton street lighting system.  I believe these discussions occurred around 2008 and 2009."

Now, are you saying that Mr. Cananzi is wrong here when he refers back to those historical discussions?


MR. McGUIRE:  I can't comment on Mr. Cananzi's discussions.  They weren't with me.


MR. RODGER:  But I take it, sir, that just because -- you say you are three, four years into the job.  Just because you may not be aware of it yourself doesn't mean that consultations didn't occur with other city of Hamilton staff; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  So your letter that we referred to earlier to the Energy Board, that's not really true, is it?  There have been lots of discussions between Horizon and the city of Hamilton regarding rates?


MR. WARREN:  Objection.  The letter says there was no consultation in the Board proceeding.  That's what it says, not no consultations with the municipality and the utility.  It is in the Board proceeding.  No one was representing municipalities in that proceeding.  That's what he says.


MR. RODGER:  Now, there was a lot of discussion with my friend earlier with Mr. Basilio about the May 27th meeting between the city of Hamilton, you and your colleagues, and various Horizon officials.


At the time of that meeting on May 27th, 2013, Mr. McGuire, were you already aware that Horizon was contemplating a custom five-year rate application?


MR. McGUIRE:  I was not.


MR. RODGER:  You were not?


When were you first aware that Horizon intended to pursue a custom rate application?


MR. McGUIRE:  I was aware that Horizon was filing rates in 2015.  I was unaware that it was custom or standard.


MR. RODGER:  So when Mr. Basilio testified under oath -- and we'll come to this again later -- that one of the outputs of the street lighting audit study would be to provide information that goes into Horizon's rate application, you had no sense of a timeframe of when that application would be; is that your evidence?


MR. McGUIRE:  No, we're aware that their rate filing was in 2015.


MR. RODGER:  So you were aware of that?


MR. McGUIRE:  You asked me if I was aware of a custom rate filing.  I'm aware of a rate filing.


MR. RODGER:  So that's what this is.  This current application before the Board is a five-year custom rate application.  So you were aware of that at the time of the May 27th meeting?


MR. McGUIRE:  Potentially, yeah, I'm assuming we would know that.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I take it, Mr. McGuire, that you've read Mr. Basilio's affidavit?


MR. McGUIRE:  I have.


MR. RODGER:  If you could turn to that, please?


MR. McGUIRE:  I have a copy of it.


MR. RODGER:  First of all, at paragraph 5 of Mr. Basilio's affidavit, this is when he talks about who attended that May 27th meeting, and he says it was Mr. Basilio, Mr. Cananzi, Ms. Butany and Ms. Lerette met with you and other officials, and the city of Hamilton officials named are the general manager of public works and the general manager of finance and corporate services.


Is that correct?  Were those the attendees to that meeting?


MR. McGUIRE:  That is correct.


MR. RODGER:  Who actually is the general manager of public works for the city of Hamilton?


MR. McGUIRE:  Gerry Davis.


MR. RODGER:  Gerry Davis?  And who is the general manager of finance and corporate services?


MR. McGUIRE:  Mike Zegarac.


MR. RODGER:  And in paragraph 6, Mr. Basilio indicates that a discussion of the daisy chain nature of the city of Hamilton street lighting assets was discussed at the meeting, as one many issues; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes, that would be correct.


MR. RODGER:  And is Mr. Basilio correct when he says that either you and/or your city colleagues expressed the view that the correct ratio for street lighting might be higher than 2.1?


MR. McGUIRE:  I don't have recollection of that.


MR. RODGER:  You never said that?


MR. McGUIRE:  That it would be higher than 2.1?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. McGUIRE:  Higher in what regard?


MR. RODGER:  That if it was higher, then the city of Hamilton could then pay lower street lighting costs?


MR. McGUIRE:  I don't believe we made that assertion.


MR. RODGER:  You never said that?


MR. McGUIRE:  The recollection --


MR. RODGER:  Sir, could you just answer the question?  Did you say it or not?


MR. McGUIRE:  That our rates -- can you rephrase that?


MR. RODGER:  That at that May 27th meeting you expressed the view that the ratio for street lighting could be higher than 2.1 -- 2:1?


MR. McGUIRE:  I don't think -- not to my knowledge.


MR. RODGER:  Not to your knowledge?


And in paragraph 8 of Mr. Basilio's affidavit, he indicated that an independent study would be needed to -- to be taken to validate the determination for a ratio for street lighting.


Do you recall Mr. Basilio saying that?


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And that the outcome of that study -- again, in paragraph 8 -- is the most up-to-date best information that would be included in the determination of street lighting cost allocation in this application before the Board.


Did you agree that Mr. Basilio said that?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe we agreed it would be an input.


MR. RODGER:  You did agree it would be an input?


MR. McGUIRE:  One of many.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  To the cost allocation of street lighting for the city of Hamilton?


MR. McGUIRE:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  That's helpful.


Would you also agree that Mr. Basilio -- this is now paragraph 9 of Mr. Basilio's affidavit -- he cautioned you and your city of Hamilton colleagues that the outcome of an independent study could be a ratio lower than 2.1?  Do you agree that Mr. Basilio said that at the meeting?


MR. McGUIRE:  My notes, minutes and communications lead us to note that we were unaware of the configuration methodologies.  We asked a question in the returned minutes whether, in fact, it was halved.  And we also asked whether the connections were 1:1.


MR. RODGER:  But did Mr. -- to your recollection, did Mr. Basilio offer a caution to you and your colleagues that if an independent study was done, the ratio may be something different and go against the city of Hamilton in terms of actually increasing your street lighting rates?


MR. McGUIRE:  In the broad scope of the discussion, I don't recall that.


MR. RODGER:  You don't recall that either?


Do you think any of your city colleagues would have a better recollection of (sic) you, Mr. McGuire, of what was said at that meeting?


MR. McGUIRE:  I'm unsure what they would recall.


MR. RODGER:  So what we have in this case, Mr. McGuire, is we have a sworn statement from Mr. Basilio saying what his recollection was of that meeting and what the city agreed to.  We had Ms. Lerette and Ms. Butany on the stand last week talking about that May 27th meeting.

And is it your view today that all that evidence, it's all wrong, as to what was agreed to at that May 27th meeting?


MR. McGUIRE:  The May 27th meeting had numerous inputs, and what I have, without recollection, what we have in communication and in correspondence back and forth is -- and I'll point you to my response, Exhibit G, paragraph 1.  Horizon explained the cost -- the -- explained cost allocation for street lighting.


My comments are including the fact -- or:

"Includes the fact that it is actually halved?  Asked for follow-up on the aspect of the billings being applied to our flat rate as a 1-to-1."


So if you ask about ratios, we were also asking about application of the charge and how it applied to devices.


MR. RODGER:  But my question, Mr. McGuire, is that you now have at least three witnesses in this case that have given sworn testimony that at that May 27th meeting that the outcome of the audit study, whether it went against Horizon -- or city of Hamilton or not, that that would be used -- that would form the basis for determinating (sic) street lighting cost allocation in this hearing.


And my question to you is:  Is it your evidence that the testimony of Mr. Basilio, Ms. Lerette, and Ms. Butany are wrong?


MR. McGUIRE:  I'm going to rely on what's in front of me with respect to the minutes and the correspondence.  I'm not going to characterize...


MR. RODGER:  Do you think these witnesses were lying?  Is that your evidence?


MR. McGUIRE:  I believe there is sufficient confusion --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, sorry, if you are going to put portions of a transcript testimony to the witness when he wasn't here, put the transcript to him.  Appreciate that you are loath to put documents before witnesses, but do it, please, as a basic courtesy of the witness.


MR. RODGER:  Well, then stick with Mr. Basilio's affidavit that you do have before you, Mr. McGuire.  Is it your evidence that Mr. Basilio was lying?


MR. McGUIRE:  Are you referring to a specific paragraph?


MR. RODGER:  I'll ask it a third time:  Mr. Basilio has said clearly to this Board under oath that on that May 27th meeting that you and other city of Hamilton officials agreed that the outcome of the street lighting audit study would be used for purposes of this application in terms of making a determination on the street lighting ratio.


MR. McGUIRE:  We entered into the study for a variety of reasons.  And if you refer back to the agenda, which is appendix E, item 2(b), there are 1,300 unknown loads being charged without backup.


So the city of Hamilton was asking why there are 1,300 lights on our bill.  That continues in the July meetings.  It also continues further on.


One of the rationales for having a study was to determine the whole -- the totality of the asset.  From that would flow cost.


MR. RODGER:  So your counsel with Mr. Basilio spent a lot of time on these.  The document you've just pointed to, it's an agenda, right?


MR. McGUIRE:  It is an agenda.


MR. RODGER:  Yeah.  So it's the issues to be talked about at the meeting.


MR. McGUIRE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. RODGER:  Right?  If you go to the next exhibit, Exhibit F.


MR. McGUIRE:  Yeah.


MR. RODGER:  And you made various amendments to this.  This was portrayed by Mr. Warren as somehow the minutes of a meeting.  But if you look at the top, this is "meeting action items"; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  It is.


MR. RODGER:  So it is not a historical recollection of what happened.  Action items are what you're going to do in the future; is that right?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  So it should be no surprise that documented in an action item is something you've already agreed to; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  Yes.


MR. RODGER:  And the fact that you can't recall whether Mr. Basilio and others correctly recalled the agreement that we have talked about, that doesn't mean the agreement doesn't exist, it just says that you forgot about it or you can't remember.


MR. McGUIRE:  It is not in any of the records that I have --


MR. RODGER:  But that's true, isn't it?


MR. McGUIRE:  -- of that meeting.


MR. RODGER:  You could have had an agreement, but you just forgot about it.


MR. McGUIRE:  It is not indicated in any of the correspondence.


MR. RODGER:  It is possible, sir, you could have just forgotten about it.  It is possible, isn't it?  Is it possible or not?


MR. McGUIRE:  Everything's possible.


MR. RODGER:  Good.  Isn't it a fact, sir, that at the May and July meetings -- and again, given the objectives of your role, if you've described them to the Board -- isn't it true that you'd convinced yourself that a study would have an outcome of a different cost ratio for street lighting than actually what occurred; isn't that true?


MR. McGUIRE:  That's not true.


MR. RODGER:  You thought the cost ratio was going to be higher, didn't you, for street lighting?


MR. McGUIRE:  I did not.


MR. RODGER:  You did not.


MR. McGUIRE:  I didn't actually have an opinion one way or the other.


MR. RODGER:  So completely impartial again.


MR. McGUIRE:  Trying.


MR. RODGER:  Now, I want to talk about the so-called

-- I ask you about the so-called errors in the report that came out in November.  And this is paragraph 29 of your latest affidavit, your third affidavit.


What I understood when you -- what you are calling material errors was that there was some information gaps pertaining to these 2,500 lights; is that right?


MR. McGUIRE:  Could you characterize "information gap"?


MR. RODGER:  That there was 2,500 lights, wasn't exactly sure who they should be allocated to, city, private owners, others?


MR. McGUIRE:  Correct.


MR. RODGER:  And do I understand it that as we sit here today 95 percent of those 2,500 have been resolved?


MR. McGUIRE:  As we sit here today we continue to work on that particular file at a staff level.


MR. RODGER:  Would you disagree with that 95 percent figure?


MR. McGUIRE:  In what regard?  95 percent of the 2,600 or 95 percent of the total deliverable?


MR. RODGER:  95 percent of the total 39,000 and change street lights in the city of Hamilton.


MR. McGUIRE:  Are...


MR. RODGER:  Resolved.


MR. McGUIRE:  As it stands now the file is under edits with Horizon Utilities and our staff.


MR. RODGER:  So am I right when I say that those 2,500 lights, again, they could fall into different categories, those owned by -- the city's, those owned privately, and those that are potentially duplicated, a series of lights connected under a tunnel, let's say.


MR. McGUIRE:  Or potentially metered.


MR. RODGER:  And for those that are city-owned am I right when I say that they could apply to different city departments?  Some could be to public works, others might be to parks and recreation; is that correct?


MR. McGUIRE:  In the 2,500 lights or...


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. McGUIRE:  There are a number of non-street light assets that extend from MPO, condos, private townhomes, trail and park lighting.


MR. RODGER:  And it is it your view that you on behalf of the city, you've provided all of the information you can to Horizon so they can go about validating these lights?

MR. McGUIRE:  Yes, it is.

MR. RODGER:  And you agree that that's the way it works under the Board policy?  You, as the customer, provide the information and Horizon validates it?

MR. McGUIRE:  I'm unaware of that process.

MR. RODGER:  Perhaps I could just turn you to -- this was an attachment to your first affidavit.  It's -- this is Exhibit A to your 8th day of September affidavit.  It is the report of the Board, EB-2012-0383.

Do you have that before you?

MR. McGUIRE:  I do not.  The entire Board report?

MR. RODGER:  Well, it is the one attached to your affidavit.  And if you can turn to page 12, this is that part of the report that dealt with updating the data.

MR. McGUIRE:  Mm-hmm.

MR. RODGER:  And if you go to the second full paragraph, it reads:

"Distributors should update unmetered load and consumption data for billing purposes that reflects energy efficiency improvements or other changes when those changes can be supported by evidence presented by unmetered load customers.  It will be the responsibility of the unmetered load customer to provide the information to the distributor.  The updated consumption data should then be used by distributors for billing unmetered loads once it is validated by the distributor."


So your evidence is that in terms of these 2,500 lights, you've given Horizon all the information that the city has that would enable them to validate those lights?

MR. MCGUIRE:  Yes.

MR. RODGER:  And you would agree that at this time, Horizon has not validated the information or the numbers that you've provided to them?

MR. McGUIRE:  With respect to the lights?

MR. RODGER:  The 2,500.

MR. McGUIRE:  They are not all resolved, no.

MR. RODGER:  Now, for this street lighting audit report, the city of Hamilton agreed to pay 60 percent of the costs; is that correct?

MR. McGUIRE:  That's correct.

MR. RODGER:  And what dollar value does that represent?

MR. McGUIRE:  I don't know.

MR. RODGER:  Now, I want to ask you a couple of questions about your whole approach to the street lighting question.

And if we could turn to Exhibit B of your third affidavit, this is your May 9th e-mail from you to Mr. Cananzi, the president and chief executive officer of Horizon, amongst others.  And I'm taking you down to the third last paragraph where you say:

"We advise that the city will withhold payment of the service connection fees on the unmetered account 24468-564 until we can arrive [at] a mutually acceptable definition of service obligations on either side of the "c".  This is a net $1.6 Million item (including our contractor fees) to PW and is significant importance."


So you're saying here in this May 2013 e-mail that unless Horizon can resolve these issues, the city of Hamilton is just simply not going to pay your electricity bill; is that right?

MR. McGUIRE:  That's not the electricity portion.

MR. RODGER:  It's the distribution portion; is that correct?

MR. McGUIRE:  There was a concern about definition of service and the entitlement of the charge.

MR. RODGER:  And your response is:  We're just not going to pay you, Horizon?

MR. McGUIRE:  I believe there was a series of irritants leading to that particular discussion.

MR. RODGER:  That's your evidence.  You threatened –- you've said here you've actually advised that the city will withhold payment, so the city already made a decision that you weren't going to pay your bill?

That's what your e-mail says.

MR. McGUIRE:  We're working through Horizon through this process to resolve service charge issues.

MR. RODGER:  But you said the city will withhold payment?  That's what your e-mail says, doesn't it?

MR. McGUIRE:  That's what it says.

MR. RODGER:  And, Mr. McGuire, do you see this as a legitimate way for the city of Hamilton to reduce its street lighting costs, simply refusing to pay your bills?

MR. McGUIRE:  No, I do not.

MR. RODGER:  And I take it that you understand, sir, that the street lighting rates that you're paying today, they actually have been approved by the Ontario Energy Board?  Do you understand that?

MR. McGUIRE:  I understand that.

MR. RODGER:  You understand that the Ontario Energy Board has authority to set distribution rates and other related charges?

MR. McGUIRE:  I understand that.

MR. RODGER:  And I also gather that another part of your strategy or approach is that the city of Hamilton also refuses to pay late payment charges on the Horizon power bill; is that right?

MR. McGUIRE:  I -- is that something that we put in evidence?

MR. RODGER:  I'm asking you the question.

MR. McGUIRE:  To my knowledge, I don't know...

MR. RODGER:  Do you refuse to pay late payment charges?

MR. McGUIRE:  We're still working through your billing cycles, so...

MR. RODGER:  Do you refuse to pay them?

MR. McGUIRE:  At this point in time, we're simply paying your bills.

MR. RODGER:  I'm advised that there are several thousand dollars in late payment charges that the city of Hamilton simply refuses to pay.  Can you confirm that?

MR. McGUIRE:  At this point in time, take that back to finance.  I know there's been discussion about late payment.

MR. RODGER:  And, Mr. McGuire, do you believe that the city of Hamilton should get some kind of special treatment in not paying charges or not paying late payment charges which all other ratepayers would have to pay?

MR. McGUIRE:  No, I do not.

MR. RODGER:  You should be treated like anybody else, right?  Any other ratepayer?

MR. McGUIRE:  We should.

MR. RODGER:  Because you are aware if other ratepayers don't pay their bill, they get their power cut off, right?

MR. McGUIRE:  Correct.

MR. RODGER:  But of course Horizon could not cut off the city of Hamilton's street lighting, for obvious safety issues, right?

MR. McGUIRE:  Correct.

MR. RODGER:  You could have people injured or killed on unlit streets.

And do you think it's appropriate, Mr. McGuire, for the city of Hamilton, as a key shareholder of Horizon, to exert influence or pressure on the utility to make changes to its rate or to otherwise address your alleged concerns?

MR. WARREN:  Objection.  Madam Chair, the city of Hamilton was given intervenor status not as the shareholder, but as a ratepayer.

MR. RODGER:  This question comes directly from the evidence.  We have an e-mail from Mr. McGuire basically saying they're going to withhold payment of certain fees.  And I'm asking the witness does he think by virtue of being a shareholder that it is appropriate that he could exert that kind of pressure on a regulated utility.

MR. McGUIRE:  I can't speak as the shareholder.

MS. LONG:  I guess I'm wondering, Mr. Roger, some of these questions seem to be straying a little bit outside what the -- what the affidavit that you're cross-examining on.  I don't see anywhere in there any discussion about late payment fees.

So I'd ask that you limit your cross-examination to issues that are contained in the evidence that we have before us.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I'm just about wrapping up, in any event.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. RODGER:  Now, you've gone on in both the supporting material and your affidavit, Mr. McGuire, about your concerns with street lighting and the street lighting charges before the Board, but you would agree with me, sir, that if the city of Hamilton was that concerned about the street lighting rates proposed in this application, you could have filed evidence in this case; isn't that right?

No, I'm asking you the question, not for Mr. Warren to give you the answer.

MR. WARREN:  I simply want to correct the record, that they did file evidence in this case.

MR. RODGER:  That's right, and then withdrew it.

But you could have mounted some evidence and come before the Board and explained your position in a principled, evidence-based way, couldn't you have?

MR. McGUIRE:  We proceeded with that.  And due to the settlement and the need to re-do all the evidence, we withdrew it.

MR. RODGER:  You withdrew your evidence because why?  Because of the settlement?

MR. McGUIRE:  On advice of counsel.

MR. RODGER:  So Mr. Warren has told you to withdraw it and you withdrew it?

And -- sorry, could you repeat that again, Mr. McGuire?

MR. McGUIRE:  On advice of counsel.

MR. RODGER:  But you agree with me that you could have put forward evidence and actually had that heard by the Energy Board if you were really concerned, as we hear you are?

MR. McGUIRE:  Correct.

MR. RODGER:  And then just finally, there has been back-and-forth about meetings and who said what.  Is it the state of the relationship between the city of Hamilton and Horizon that -- and would you consent that in all future meetings Horizon makes audio recordings of those meetings so you can actually hear what was agreed to and what was not?  Would you consent to that?

MR. WARREN:  Objection, Madam Chair.  That is clearly way outside anything that's been testified to.

MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

Mr. Warren, do you have any redirect?

MR. WARREN:  Just two.
Re-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Mr. McGuire, can I take you to Exhibit B to your affidavit?  This is the e-mail that you sent to Mr. Cananzi, among others, on May 9, 2013.  There is a reference to the $1.6 million in issue.

You mentioned in your evidence something about contractor fees.  Could you explain what that is?

MR. McGUIRE:  Our cost to run our part of the network include contractor fees, so coming out of this particular account are a series of contractor fees on the other side of the demarcation point.

MR. WARREN:  What does that mean, I'm sorry, Mr. McGuire?

MR. McGUIRE:  Part of the service fee included is fees for a contractor, in -- under that line.

MR. WARREN:  And are the contractor fees your responsibility or Horizon's responsibility?  Whose responsibility are they?

MR. McGUIRE:  They're ours.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And should they be yours, or is that an issue between you?

MR. McGUIRE:  That is one of the ongoing discussions, was -- and if I refer to the third -- or fourth sentence there, the definition of the 1-to-1 fee and the requirement to pay a service charge, that was an ongoing confusion, as well as who was paying for maintenance and asset ownership on either side of the demarcation point.

MR. WARREN:  And has that been resolved?

MR. McGUIRE:  Today it has not.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Are you ready to proceed with argument of the motion, or do you need a few minutes?

MR. WARREN:  I'm ready to proceed.

MS. LONG:  Please do so then.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, may Mr. McGuire be excused from the stand?

MS. LONG:  Yes, of course.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  All appearances to the contrary notwithstanding, he doesn't like his starring role.

Do you have the motion record, Gord?

Madam Chair, if the panel would have -- if the panel would have before them the amended motion record which we filed, and I'd ask you to turn to the -- begin my submissions with the relief which the city of Hamilton asks for in this proceeding.  I'm going to characterize that relief as being modest relief.

We're asking that the street light rates not be set until the Navigant report has been received and, in the alternative, an order requiring that the rates for the street lighting class be interim, reconsidered following receipt of the Navigant report and, if appropriate, reset following the outcome of the Board's deliberations on that.

I say this is modest relief because it takes place in the context of an application by Horizon for rates to be in place for five years.  And if turns out that Navigant says that the way the street light rates are set needs to be considered, should be reconsidered, in order to determine what the appropriate costs are for daisy-chaining and how those costs should be assigned -- in other words, if it addresses the concerns that the Board identified in EB-2012-0383, and if the result of that, one way or another, my client's rates are too low or too high, why should that persist for five years?  What conceivable public policy or regulatory policy end does it serve to have rates, first, which are not based on the best available evidence, and B, if not persist for five years, and the obverse of that, what's the mischief in the Board considering holding off considering street light rates until Navigant has been received, and if the Board isn't willing to do that for this hearing, at least make those rates interim for a period of time to allow that report to be considered.

In my respectful submission, as a matter of principle, no board and, in particular, this Board should make its decision on what may be defective or inadequate information.

In this case, the potential adverse impacts would persist over the period of a five-year plan.  The rates resulting from or based on inadequate or defective information would be neither just nor reasonable.  Such rates would be contrary to the statutory injunction that you set just and reasonable rates.

If they are to be set -- if there are practical considerations, that the Board says we can't interrupt the flow of this case because of -- there are practical considerations that you have to weigh.

On the one hand, we should set rates on the best available evidence to ensure they are just and reasonable.  On the other hand, there is a practical consideration about holding up this case.  If you have to hold those in equipoise, then at least make the rights interim so they don't last for five years.

Now, Hamilton brought -- it's a been a bit terrier-like in this proceeding.  It brought a similar motion in Hydro One Networks.  In that case, Hamilton was aware as a result of the Board's August 21st letter that the Board was going to proceed with what it said it was going to proceed with in EB-2012-0383.

What they did not know at the time that that motion was filed and argued was that Navigant was going to produce a draft report within four to six weeks.

That puts the receipt of the Navigant -- first of all, it is a fundamentally different factual context, in addition to which it puts the receipt of the Navigant report within the time frame of the conclusion of this case.

So I ask the Board, why would any party, let alone the Board, make a decision based on defective or inadequate information?  And what is the mischief that Horizon and my friends complain about in delaying the disposition of this application or making it interim?

Now, the argument that is made by my friends is that the Board may take longer to adopt a new policy based on whatever Navigant says.  I think the framework is that Navigant delivers a draft report.  Everybody who wants to make input can make input, and then the Board considers whether there is a policy.

Waiting for the policy is not the determination.  It's the factual issues.  The Board said in EB-2012-0383 that we don't know how rates should be set, costs determined, in a daisy-chain operation.  Those are factual issues.

If Navigant reports next week or the week after or whatever that their preliminary determination is that there's a problem with the way -- that that's a fact, regardless of what the Board does with the policy, and it invites, in my respectful submission, caution on the part of everyone to make sure that we get the best available information.

Now, an analogy which occurs to me is one to hand.  United States Steel Canada makes a CCAA filing two or three weeks ago, and my friends from Horizon were in a hot hurry to come before the Board saying there is new relevant information which you have to consider.  There is new evidence that you need to consider that needs to be an input.  But somehow that is different from a Board-mandated study into an acknowledged problem with the way street light rates are set.  I don't see a difference.

If the injunction is for the Board to set rates on the basis of the best possible information, what's the difference between the United States Steel Canada urgency and a Board-mandated study?  In my respectful submission, the underlying impulse is to ensure that rates are based on the best possible information.

Now, the position of the parties opposite, I want to consider briefly.

That Horizon would oppose my client's prayer for relief is perhaps not surprising, even if it's just based on practical considerations, though I'm puzzled as to why Horizon would oppose my client's prayer for relief over the period of five years.  Why would any utility whose obligation is to set rates that are fair to the ratepayers contemplate -- embrace -- having rates set on a defective framework for five years?  That's what puzzles me about Horizon's -- but presumably we'll hear from them on that.

The position of the intervenors is even more puzzling to me.  For example, Ms. Girvan and Mr. Janigan say they represent the interests of the residents of the city of Hamilton.  Why would they be content to have rates which are set on the basis of defective information?


Now, in that context I'd invite the Board to turn up Mr. McGuire's affidavit.

Exhibit K to that affidavit -- and this is a letter from Mr. Janigan in his capacity as counsel to VECC.  This is a matter of public record.  He filed this in response to an invitation from the Board in EB-2012-0383.

And if you look at Exhibit K and the third full paragraph on the first page and the last portion of it:

"In VECC's experience, many of these issues have arisen as a result of confusion over terminology and/or precisely how the cost allocation model is intended to treat unmetered load classes.  As a result, VECC believes that these sections of the report are particularly useful and should help contribute to a consistent application of the Board's policies and practices regarding cost allocation for unmetered loads."


And then if you turn over to the next page, under the heading "section 7.2":

"The recommendations call for the distributors to work with their municipalities to determine and explain the distribution system configuration used to connect street lights and other unmetered loads and to use the actual configuration" -- the actual configuration –- "in their cost allocation methodology.  VECC agrees with both recommendations."


And then the on the next page, section 7.3:

"VECC agrees that distributors should clearly document in their conditions of service the relative roles, responsibilities and expectations of customers vis-à-vis the distributor when it comes to who provides and maintains what facilities."


Now, that statement, I want to put that in context.

Mr. McGuire said, in response to my questions in re-examination, that an ongoing issue between the city and Horizon is this responsibility for the costs on one side or the other of the demarcation line.  That's part of what the audit is supposed to accomplish.

This, Mr. Janigan says in his letter to the Board, is an important issue.

Then he says in the next paragraph:

"What is not addressed in the report is the need for the distributor to ensure that its cost allocation model assigns asset and costs to customer classes in a manner that is consistent with the roles and responsibilities as set out in the distributor's conditions of service.  For example, if a customer class is required to provide, own, and maintain the service connection assets, then there should be no allocation of such assets or their related costs to that customer class, and similarly the reverse should apply."


Mr. Janigan felt in June of 2013 that these were important issues.  They remain important issues.  They remain unresolved issues.

And the hope is that Navigant will help to do it, to resolve them.

Now, I want to turn to an argument which my friends have made and presumably will make -- Ms. Girvan makes it in her letter –- which is that the Board is always making policies.  And you can't hold up a proceeding because there is a policy.

What they don't distinguish is there are policies and there are policies.

The Board embarks on a policy which examines as a general matter, for example, the relative role of fixed costs.  That study is not prompted by a specific concern about the fairness of the way rates are set.

In other words, it is distinguished from the EB-2012-0383 case, where the Board said there is a specific concern with the fairness and accuracy of the allocation of costs to unmetered scattered loads, and in particular to the street light class.

That is what distinguishes the circumstances.

General studies, I quite agree, the Board can't hold up its processes, but that's not what is the case in EB-2012-0383.  It is a specific concern which speaks to the very issues which are -- in this case, which are in the process of being resolved.  And that's what distinguishes this from the general run of circumstances.

There is no precedent, no ill precedent that would flow from the Board saying in this case it's a different matter; it can be distinguished.

Now, I want to turn, finally, to Mr. Basilio's affidavit.

Mr. Basilio, in his affidavit, tries to suggest that Hamilton somehow agreed that the results of the street light audit would be determined -- determinative of its rates.  And he went so far in his testimony this morning to suggest that my client is trying to do an end-around an agreement it made.

That is the insidious intent of this affidavit.  Trying to do an end-around an agreement it made that it would be bound by the determination -- the outcome of the audit.

Nothing could be further from the truth.  They agreed that the audit was an input into determining how many lights there are, what's the relationship between connections and devices, who owns what, and who's responsible on one side of the connection or another.

None of those issues have been resolved.  None.

In addition to which, what Mr. Basilio did not tell you -- and I submit, with respect, astonishingly enough did not tell you -- was that the audit isn't even complete.  They don't have the final numbers.  And if you don't have the final numbers, you don't have the basic input for determining those other issues.

What Mr. McGuire's October 6th affidavit discloses is that the factual basis on which Horizon proposes to set street light rates for five years is incomplete.  Why he would have volunteered that is one of life's mysteries, but he elected at the eleventh hour to volunteer information which, when explored fully, discloses how many issues remain unresolved between Horizon and Hamilton.

And that underscores the importance, in my respectful submission, of not setting rates for a five-year period, of pausing simply to allow the best information to come out, and that's from the Navigant study.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Warren, I understand the city of Hamilton's concern about the five-year timeframe.  I'm wondering, since we don't actually know when the Navigant report is going to be available and whether or not the Board will see fit to adopt its recommendations -- whatever, those are all still unknowns.  Known unknowns, perhaps, but they're definitely unknowns.

MR. WARREN:  We are back in Iraq, so it is... it's a known known.

[Laughter]

MS. SPOEL:  So how would you propose or -- what options might what we have?  As you know, if we set street lighting rates as interim, then we have to -- by implication, all the rates have to be set as interim, because if you change one, you change them all.  And since we don't really know the timeframe, what are our options going forward, given that -- or do you have any suggestions as to our options going forward, given the uncertainty or the -- what appears to be a lack of factual -- maybe a lack of factual basis.  If we agree with your client that there is -- there are some significant gaps, what can we do, short of -- short of declaring everyone else's rates interim for an unspecified period of time, which then we get into retroactive rate adjustments and all the rest?  Should we come back to this later?


MR. WARREN:  Well, one solution, Ms. Spoel, is to not fix the rates until we've heard from Navigant.  But if the Board is unhappy with the indeterminate time frame, which I understand, then, in my respectful submission, the option is to make the rates interim.  The timeframe, we understand, is that all of the Navigant stuff will be completed by sometime in the first half of 2015, which is less than a year into the rates, and if the Board decides, based on the Navigant information and whatever the Board does with it, the Board as a whole does with it, that there needs to be a reconsideration of the appropriate rate levels, then the rates for the other classes, it's simply a mechanical calculation of what the impact is on them.  And that's not a happy solution.


And that's not a happy solution.  I acknowledge that, that it's not a happy solution; that everybody's rates have to be looked at in a year.  As I said, when you make a policy decision, as between that which is doable -- and, I mean, rates based for five years on the wrong information

 -- my respectful submission is that the balance can be set -- should be set in favour of making the rates interim, in addition to which, as Ms. -- as my client has just suggested, what the Board can do is that it can urge that the Navigant study be completed and that process expedited.  But I'm the last person in the room to say that the choice is an easy one for you, but it's an important choice, for the reasons I've said.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Warren, I'm going to ask you to comment on this, but I want to understand from Mr. Rodger, the settlement proposal, does it contemplate a re-opener, if there is a change based on the Navigant report?  I'll give you some time to consider that, but, you know, if there was anything contained in that, it might be of some assistance to us on how to deal with timing.


MR. RODGER:  There is an acknowledgment -- and I went through this, I believe, last week -- that whether it was a directive from government or a directive of a Board -- from the Board, then those would flow through into the Horizon rates over the five terms, just like for, you know, the annual update, just like cost of capital would be updated, if there was a new, whatever, smart-meter program or smart-grid program that would just flow through into the Horizon rates.


So, yes, there is a provision from that perspective.


MS. LONG:  And so Mr. Warren, is your concern with that that you think rates should be interim because we don't know when that would happen?  I mean, there would be certain months where --


MR. WARREN:  If my friend --


MS. LONG:  I don't want to put words in your mouth.  Maybe you can explain what the concern is with that.


MR. WARREN:  Well, I'm not familiar with the settlement process.  I was asked not to participate in the settlement process by Mr. Shepherd, among others.  But if my --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not correct.


MR. WARREN:  If Mr. Rodger's -- if --


MS. LONG:  Well, let's start on the premise that as represented by Horizon --


MR. WARREN:  If Mr. Rodger's --


MS. LONG:  -- that is what the settlement proposal says.


MR. WARREN:  If Mr. Rodger is prepared to consent, concede, that that's what that wording does, then that solves my problem.  But I don't personally think that that wording, which talks about directive -- and as you know, directive is a defined term.  It means something.  Certainly when it comes from the Minister it means something.  I don't know what a directive from the Board would be, but if my friend Mr. Rodger concedes that the outcome of the Navigant report fits within that re-opener provision, then that addresses my problem.  I haven't heard that from Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Well, and it's...


MS. LONG:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger.


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  The context, Madam Chair, it has got nothing to do with the issuance of a consultant's report.  The construct was, if there are changes beyond the purview of Horizon that are imposed on the sector, whether that be from government or from the Board that would have a rate impact, the idea is that Horizon wouldn't be punished by having to make changes and not be able to recoup.


So that's why I say if it was a matter of everything from cost of capital to something like a new smart-grid policy or a new Board policy, that this is how we are going to change rates -- standby rates would be a good example.  At some point you are going to make a determination on that, and whatever those new standby rates are would be flowed through and changed in the annual update.


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger, I will just ask a follow up on that.  Would it be your view or your client's view that -- and the other parties to the settlement agreement's view that since cost allocation and rate design are not settled issues, that the re-openers -- that the re-openers would -- I mean, if the matter of cost allocation were reopened, but didn't affect the revenue requirement or any of the other matters dealt with in the settled portions of this case, that -- those -- would those re-opener conditions apply to cost allocation and rate design anyway, if they had no effect on the other aspects of the case?  I'm thinking aloud a bit, but I want to hear parties' input on these before we go off and do something strange on our own.


You don't have to respond to that question right now.  It is just one to think about.


MR. WARREN:  I think in response to Ms. Long's question, though, if that re-opener provision did capture the outcome of whatever the Board does, with what I'll call the Navigant process, then that addresses my client's concern.


MS. LONG:  Those are the Board's questions.


Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Submissions by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Madam Chair, Horizon opposes the city of Hamilton motion and submits that it should be dismissed by the Board.  The Board made a very clear decision in dismissing what is essentially the same motion that the city of Hamilton brought in the recent Hydro One case, and the Board should render the same decision on this motion in this case.


I have six points that I want to raise.  Firstly, the relief sought in the amended motion has not changed in substance.  The original motion was to freeze street lighting rates or make street lighting rates interim pending the outcome of the Board's policy review, and the amended motion is to not set street lighting rates and make street lighting rates interim until a consultant's report is received and acted upon, whatever "acted upon" means.  Does it mean the Board adopting the report, or does it mean my friend reciting a Shakespeare soliloquy while standing on the report?


The amended wording and the relief sought amounts to a distinction without a difference.  In both the original and the amended motion the request is for the Board to avoid making a rate determination in this case, notwithstanding the application, and notwithstanding the evidence before the Board.


As you've heard from Mr. Basilio, both last week and today, the Board has the best evidence available on street lighting, and that's what it's seeking to base your decision on in terms of establishing street lighting rates for the next five years.


Secondly, there is no new material information or changes that would cause the Board to deviate from the clear decision, which you've already made on the same motion in the Hydro One proceeding.


In its September 22nd amended motion, the city, in effect, claims that there is important new developments, and Mr. Warren spoke to that.


So what is this dramatic new development?  Well, on September 7th, the day before he filed his first affidavit, Mr. McGuire has a phone call with the Board's consultants, who apparently said that a "draft report" will be sent to the Board in five to six weeks' time.


So Mr. Warren is saying, OEB, stop the presses.  We've got a draft report coming.  But this is no new development.  This is entirely predictable and fully expected.  Everybody understands the Board's process in a policy review.  You put out a notice of the review, you retain a consultant, the consultant delivers a draft report, you invite comments from stakeholders, the Board considers those comments, and the Board may or may not do anything on the report at some future time.


In this instance, for its motion, the city of Hamilton simply needed to do something to present the illusion of a new development, because they know that this motion is a dead duck in light of the same motion being dismissed by the Board about two weeks ago.


So in our view, there is no basis for the Board to completely reverse itself on a matter which it has just dealt with.


Thirdly, in the past the Board has not refrained from settling final rates, even though certain matters may be in a state of flux by virtue of policy initiatives the Board is undertaking at any given moment in time.  And this was the central finding of the Board's decision in dismissing the city of Hamilton motion in the Hydro One case.  And it also applies here.


Specifically at page 101 of volume 6 of the Hydro One motion hearing, the Board said:

"The Board considers certainty of rates paid at the time of system use to be a very important attribute of a fair and reasonable ratemaking scheme."

And I would refer to the Consumers Council of Canada written submission on this motion, which also rejects the city of Hamilton motion entirely.  The CCC said:

"It would be a dangerous precedent and completely unmanageable for the Board and utilities if rates were frozen or held interim for all utilities pending the outcome of any or all policy reviews."

So we agree with those submissions of the Consumers Council of Canada.


Fourthly, if the Board intended to freeze street lighting rates or make them interim because of a policy review in this area, it would have expressly said so in the 2015 filing requirements.


We know that the Board is very focused on promoting efficient, effective, predictable regulation.  If the Board did not want applicants to prepare evidence and incur the time and expense of doing so, they would have said so in the 2015 filing guidelines.  They would have been clear on it.  The Board would have amended those guidelines to direct utilities and say:  Don't bother preparing evidence on street lighting, because we're going to freeze the rates or make them interim.


And in fact, the Board did do this with standby rates.  The Board said that:  Standby rates will be declared interim until we complete the review.


But the Board did not –- correctly, in my view -- take that approach with regard to unmetered scattered loads.


So there is no benefit to anyone in having utilities incur expenses for preparing evidence that is not needed, and the Board would not facilitate that kind of wasteful outcome.


Ongoing policy reviews of the Board also cannot somehow fetter your discretion in this case or any other case that comes before you.  A policy review is just that, a review; it is not a direction on how to proceed and it doesn't foreshadow any particular decision on those reviews.


So clearly there is no legal basis to prohibit you from determining street lighting rates because of the ongoing policy review on unmetered scattered loads.


Fifth, we believe there is a fairness issue here to customers.  If street lighting rates were frozen or made interim, then other customers are picking up the revenue shortfall over an undetermined period.  And to Ms. Spoel's point that she raised with Mr. Warren, it effectively means that all rates would be made interim.  And that is not appropriate.  Interim rates mean uncertainty for ratepayers.


You heard last week from Mr. Basilio and others that the evidence before you with respect to street lighting revenue-to-cost ratios and cost allocation generally is the best, latest information that they have.  And Horizon used this information, what is -- in putting forward a fair outcome.


In Mr. Basilio's cross-examination this morning, he said that any way you cut the information, even though it may not be 100 percent accurate, it all points to one direction, that the city of Hamilton should pay more for street lighting.


Then we get to the McGuire affidavits, the three affidavits and the various attachments.


The picture painted by that information, I suggest, and the cross-examination this morning, is that Mr. McGuire really has no interest in pursuing any kind of principled approach to cost allocation and rate design with respect to street lighting.


As he says, this is his objective of his job.  He simply wants to reduce city of Hamilton's costs.  This is job one for Mr. McGuire.


The evidence of Mr. Basilio and others is that the city and Horizon agreed to the audit report, and that the cost ratios coming from that report would be used in the current application.  And that's exactly what happened.


But Mr. McGuire did not like the outcome of the report and, in our view, is simply now denying the agreement that was entered into.


He also goes to downplay the extensive consultations that have happened for years now between Horizon and the city of Hamilton around these issues.


Instead, the city is now shifting from one argument to another.  And we've seen this kind of roving strategy before in an attempt to frustrate the street lighting proposals that are before the Board.


You will recall that the city did file evidence in this case, but then it withdrew the evidence.  I suppose they didn't like the interrogatories that were being asked.


The same motion was brought in Hydro One; that motion was rejected, so we get an amended motion.  But these tactics, everyone can see through them, and they should not be accepted.


We believe that the approach, frankly, of the city of Hamilton and Mr. McGuire, it really is akin to a bit of a school boy bully.  But instead of shaking down the kids for lunch money, the city is threatening not to pay their bills, and that's inappropriate.


So in conclusion, we submit, Madam Chair, that this motion should be dismissed.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rodger, do you see any distinction between the Hydro One case, the motion brought in Hydro One and the motion brought here?  In that we heard quite a bit of cross-examination this morning, the outcome of which leaves me with the feeling that we have very different positions between the city and Horizon as to what a connection is, how they're being billed.


Is it -- you know, is the policy outcome from the Navigant report going to be more crucial in this case because we have such a disconnect between the two parties as to how they are being charged?


MR. RODGER:  I don't believe so, Madam Chair.  Again, part of the evidence on record is that Mr. Todd, an industry expert, also had meetings with the city of Hamilton, was involved in this case.  And what you have is the best information available.


As I say, the city had every opportunity, if they were really concerned, to put forward their own evidence, but you do have the best information before you, and on that basis it goes to the issue of this -- what impact should this review have.  And we think that is the exact same issue as the Hydro One case.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Shepherd?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll be fairly brief.


I want to start by saying that I didn't hear anything in the cross-examinations this morning that was relevant to this motion at all; not one word.


Many of the things in the cross-examinations and in the affidavits were relevant to the proceeding, but the motion is very specific, and I'm going to focus on what the motion says.


So what the motion says is you are being asked to decline -- you have a rate application before you to set just and reasonable rates for Horizon.  The city is asking you to decline to make that determination until a certain report at some time in the future is completed and acted upon.


And I want to point out Mr. Warren says:  No, you just need to see the report.  Well, that's not actually correct.  The prayer for relief says, and I quote:  "Has been received and acted upon."


So what the city is asking you to do is decline to do what the application asks you to do, decline to make that determination until that time sometime in the future.


And alternatively, to make the determination as to rates, but to make them interim, which means you haven't really made the determination yet; you're just temporarily making it until such time as you can fix it, retroactively.


And that's the key to interim, is your ability to be retroactive later.  Otherwise it doesn't matter.


So let me deal with the two of them.


First, should you decline to set just and reasonable rates at this time?  It's clear that you have the power to do that.  You can -- faced with an application, you can say either:  We don't have enough evidence to make a determination on this issue or that issue, or:  We don't think this is the right time to make the decision.  We think it should be done in two years or in five years or whenever.


Here, there is clearly sufficient evidence before you on the record to make a determination on the issue of rates.  We don't agree on what they should be, but there is evidence before you.  And you haven't heard anybody say there is not evidence.


Now, is it true that more evidence would be available later, and it might be?  Absolutely that's true.  Every proceeding that I've ever been in, that's always been true of every issue, that, yes, there may be evidence in the future that will help us better understand the issues.


But as they say, the perfect is the enemy of the good.  Right now you have evidence before you, and you have sufficient to make a determination.  If you decline -- if you do as the city says and you decline to set street lighting rates, you only really have two choices, as Ms. Spoel has, I think, correctly pointed out.  You either decline to set rates for everybody, because you can't set rates for one and not the other.  It is a zero-sum game.  Or you say, Okay.  We'll set rates for everybody else but not for street lighting, in which case you are deliberately deciding not to comply with the fair-return standard, because it's a zero-sum game.


So if you change the number on street lighting, Horizon then isn't getting their duly determined revenue requirement.  They aren't being given the opportunity to earn a fair return, so you can't do that.


So our view is it is not appropriate for you to decline to set the rates.  And I should point out that we've heard all morning now evidence on the substance of the matter.  Why couldn't that have been in the proceeding?  Why wasn't that filed?  Why weren't these disputes put before the Board?  I don't know why.  I haven't heard anybody say why.  A motion doesn't appear to be the right way to deal with something that is a live issue in the proceeding.


So then the second thing is, well, should you declare the rates interim?  Well, the theory of the city appears to be this:  There is new evidence coming.  As a result of that new evidence a new policy is possible.  And when the Board implements this theoretical new policy -- and this is the part they don't tell you -- when they implement this policy, the Board will not implement transition rules that are fair to the city.  That's necessarily true, otherwise you don't need to declare rates interim.


There is no basis in our mind to assume that the Board will be unfair in establishing any new policy, unfair to the city, unfair to Horizon, or unfair to everybody else, or anybody else.


They -- the Board's practice is to look at how a new policy should be implemented, and to do it in the fairest possible way.  The city may not like it at the time, but it will be for the Board to decide when it implements the new policy.


And I just want to comment in this respect on the settlement agreement.  My understanding of what was agreed in the settlement agreement is that what we're trying to explain is that the settlement agreement is not intended to pre-empt the Board from having new policies and having them apply to Horizon.


We're trying to make clear that as new policies come in over the next five years, to the extent that the Board determines that they're applicable to Horizon, the settlement agreement, and your order based on that settlement agreement, should not stand in the way of that.


It is not intended to say the opposite, which is new policies immediately apply to Horizon no matter what the Board says.  That's not what it says.


So finally, I want to say this:  In any case before you, in any application before you, you have a number of inputs available to determine rates.  In this case you have direct evidence on these issues.  And on that direct evidence you have to determine the weight you have -- and often it will be determinative.  If you have the direct evidence, that will determine the issue.


You also have existing policies.  The policies don't bind you, as you know, and in each case you have to determine the weight that you give to that policy based on a number of factors:  Is the policy recent?  Is it directly applicable?  Are the facts on which the policy is based identical to the facts in this case or slightly different or widely different?  Is a policy under review?  If it's under review, you may give it less weight.


There are a lot of things you have to look at in determining how much weight to give the policy, but that is not the same as saying, Oh, policy is under review.  We have to stop all work.  That's wrong.


And I think in this case you may determine that the policies associated with street lighting have less weight than some other policy relating to other cost allocation and rate design, because it is under reconsideration, but saying it has less weight does not mean that you do nothing, because you still have direct evidence in this proceeding applicable to the specific facts in this case as to what the appropriate rates are for street lighting.


So I think in conclusion I would say this:  This is an issue that was put forth in this proceeding.  The city has known for some time it was coming up in this proceeding and could have filed evidence to challenge the evidence of the applicant.  It did not do so, and cannot, through the use of a motion, do that indirectly.  That is not appropriate.


Those are our submissions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Mr. Janigan?

Submissions by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


Similarly to my friend Mr. Shepherd, I have a difficulty connecting the dots between evidence in cross-examination that we heard this morning and the relevant issues in play on the motion for the city of Hamilton.


In our view, the first matter to be considered is, frankly, why this is coming before us in this fashion, and it is, in part, because of the adjustments to rates that this application provides, and in particular, the adjustments of the revenue/cost ratios that the application -- or the applicant has proposed.


And it is to be noted that the status quo ratios of several of the customer classes were above the Board's policy range, and that included LU1, LU2, and USL.


However, street lights were not among them, and rather, their status quo ratio was within the 70 percent or the 120 percent policy range for that class.


So Horizon is proposing to adjust the revenue/cost ratio for the various classes so that the classes whose ratios are above the Board's policy rates come down to the upper end of the range for each.


And in order to do so, the revenue loss from reducing the ratios from these classes must be made up, and this has been done by increasing the ratios for those classes whose current values are less than 100 percent, including street lighting.


Obviously, the -- at least the first part of my friend Mr. Warren's motion would, of course, mean that some other mechanism of adjustment and somebody else would have to absorb the increases that are associated with adjusting the revenue/cost ratios for those classes to within the Board's policy range.  I would submit that that is an unfair conclusion.


But furthermore, in our view there are substantial flaws in the logic that we have to proceed today on the basis of disputed evidence to determine whether or not the cost allocation that has been applied to the city of Hamilton is right or wrong.


Certainly his exposition is that the cost allocation should be correct.  We've acknowledged in our submissions to the Board on earlier dates that the cost allocation issues associated with unmetered loads has to be straightened, including the uses associated with cost allocation for street lights.


That does not mean that we -- that the city of Hamilton jumps the queue in that regard, and in our view it would be a serious policy mistake to allow them to do so.


They have raised points that suggest that it is inappropriate or unfair to -- not to alter the city of Hamilton's street lighting rates until after the current review of the cost allocation methodology as it applies to street lights is complete.


To do so, and to effectively afford a particular exception for the city of Hamilton we would suggest is not consistent with past Board practice.  In the broad (sic) report on the cost allocation methodology in 2011, which was EB-2010-0219, the Board signalled and frequent -- and subsequently undertook a review of the cost allocation methodology for unmetered loads, but it did not freeze either the rates or the revenue-to-cost ratios for those classes pending the outcome.


Indeed, the Board's decisions since then have frequently made adjustments to the revenue-to-cost ratios for these classes.


Now, in the EB-2013-0383 report, where the Board introduced the need for further work on the cost allocation methodology as it related to street lights, the Board did not suggest that the revenue-to-cost ratios or rates for street lights should be frozen pending the result.  Just the opposite; the Board directed distributors to continue to refine the cost allocation process with the best information they had.


And as the Board -- as the Panel noted on the city's motion in the Hydro One case, from September 16th, 2014 transcript, at page 101:

"The Board has not refrained from setting final rates, even though the ranges have been known to be in a state of flux.  The Board considers certainty of rates paid at the time of system use to be a very important attribute of a fair and reasonable ratemaking scheme."


Similarly, when the filing guidelines for distributors making 2015 cost of service applications was released, there was no suggestion therein that special treatment should be afforded street lights, even though the guidelines do specifically acknowledge the results of EB-2013-0383.


Now, I think my friends have touched upon the fact that the motion relies heavily on the production of the draft Navigant report.  And it should be noted here that the -- this will be a draft report to the Board.  Finalization of the report will take time, as will any subsequent consultation process, as is typically initiated by the Board to obtain stakeholder output.  This will take time, and there is no guarantee that the final determinations of the Board will align entirely with the recommendations of Navigant.


As my friends have pointed out -- and Mr. Shepherd, in particular -- the cost allocations is a zero-sum game.


To the extent of the outcome of the Board's pending review of the cost allocation methodology, increases or decreases the costs allocated to the street light class will affect all customer classes.


There is no reason why street lights should be singled out for special treatment pending the review, other than allowing their target policy range to remain unchanged.


And as my friend Mr. Rodger has pointed out, the Board's whole approach to cost allocation and the appropriate methodology has been one of gradualism.  You gradually improve the methodology over time, and gradually reduce the policy ranges for the various customer classes in response to the improvements.


And we would note that the Board still allows for adjustments to revenue-to-cost ratios that are within the policy range under two circumstances, where specific class ratios are being adjusted to come within their required policy range and adjustments to other classes are needed to address revenue neutrality, and where distributors have made proposals to reduce the ratios further based on self-initiated improvements to the cost allocation methodology and improvements that exceed the Board's standard requirement.


So there's no handcuffs on the city of Hamilton with respect to this.


Horizon's rationale in this case for the proposed revenue-to-cost adjustments are based on the first of the two considerations.


And in certain classes, current ratios are outside the Board's policy ranges, and it is making an effort in this case to bring them in line with the Board's -- with the Board's policy.


Finally, with respect to the point associated with the idea of an opener or making rates interim or on some basis -- on some sort of mechanism or lever, the suggestion, in our view, ignores the fact that the city of Hamilton is not the only utility which will be under a multi-year rate plan for 2015 and beyond.  And one can reasonably expect that the Board is aware of this fact and will take it into consideration when determining how best to implement any changes to the cost allocation methodology as applied to street lighting, if indeed any changes are required.


So in our view, there are no grounds for this motion.  VECC is indeed concerned that the cost allocation process is accurate and the rates that flow from them accurately reflect cost allocation.


We were also concerned that one party should not be allowed to jump the queue in an effort to reduce their particular burden.


Thank you.  Those are our submissions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


Board Staff, do you have a submission?

Submissions by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


And before I actually articulate what Board Staff's submission is with respect to this, I think it may be helpful to the Panel with respect to your question, Madam Chair, concerning re-openers, I have asked Mr. Clark to make a few copies of the application of Horizon, specifically Exhibit 1, tab 12, schedule 2, page 1 of 3.


We have a few extra copies.  I think it's important for you to review this.  And I have a copy for Mr. Warren and Mr. Rodger as well.  I apologize we don't have more than that.


In any event, I think this may address your question, Ms. Long.  And I'll just wait until everyone has a copy of it.


Essentially what it states -- and I'll just read from the top of page 1 of 3:

"Horizon Utilities is proposing that adjustments outside the normal course of business will be sought for unexpected events that will have a material impact to the operation of the utility and are outside of management's control.  Horizon Utilities' proposal for these adjustments includes for the following..."


And if you turn the page, the fourth bullet down specifically references:

"...changes to the revenue allocated to unmetered load customers resulting from changes to the Board's policies on cost allocation for unmetered loads."


Then it specifically reference the Board report of December 19th, 2013, specifically the report on the review of the Board's cost allocation policy for unmetered loads.


So this is set out in the application and it's contemplated, in Staff's submission upon reading that, that a change in the policy with respect to cost allocation for unmetered loads is contemplated as a re-opener.


And in the settlement agreement, Madam Chair, at page 29 of 63, specifically issue 2.4, the issue is stated:

"Are Horizon's proposed off-ramps, re-openers, annual adjustments, and annual adjustments outside the normal course of business appropriate?"


There is a complete settlement now.  And I appreciate Ms. Spoel's question was whether or not the settlement itself would refer to a re-opener relating to cost allocation, and that's an issue that can be further considered.


But it does refer to this specific part of the application in the evidence, and the paragraph under 2.4 in the settlement proposal, again, at page 29 of 63 says:

"The proposed off-ramps, re-openers and annual adjustments outside the normal course of business are generally consistent with the current Board policy and practice under the Board's RRF framework, and therefore are appropriate with respect to Horizon Utilities' custom IR application."


So I think that's relevant with respect to the question you posed earlier, Ms. Long, and hopefully that will of be of assistance.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  In addition, my submission or Board Staff's submission will be brief.


I can inform you that Board Staff opposes the motion on the grounds largely already set out by counsel for Schools and Mr. Janigan, as well as the CCC submission.  And Board Staff supports those submissions by the intervenors.


Board Staff also agrees with the position set out by Mr. Shepherd at the outset of his submission, that the cross-examinations this morning on the various affidavits with respect to factual discrepancies concerning the appropriateness of the cost allocation model and how those costs are determined is not something that is directly relevant to the actual motion and the grounds for relief sought, but rather as something that is relevant to the proceeding.


Regardless, Mr. Warren has, in my submission, relied on some of the testimony given to support his argument that the Board, for some reason, should not pursue with deciding on the cost allocation at this time, because there is factually incorrect or inadequate evidence before you.


In Staff's submission, there is no basis for saying that there is any factually incorrect evidence before you.  What has been provided in the application is the best evidence that was available to the applicant.


There was a complete hearing with respect to the opportunity for intervenors to test that evidence through the interrogatory process and through a technical conference, and if there was any issue with respect to that, that could have been raised, and certainly the city of Hamilton could have filed evidence to support its position that it's now making that, in some way, the evidence before you is factually incorrect.


Board Staff submits that it is clearly within the Board's jurisdiction at this time to consider the cost allocation in this application, and it is appropriate to do so, despite the -- again, the position taken by the city of Hamilton that the evidence may be factually incorrect.


The other ground that has been raised by the city of Hamilton in its motion in order to ask for the rates be set as interim or that the Board not set rates until the Navigant report is complete, is that there is this outstanding and ongoing policy review.


Like the submissions of the intervenors, Board Staff does not see that this information is any different or in any way material (sic) different from the evidence that was put before the panel in the Hydro One proceeding, where a similar motion was argued.


The timing of the policy review is one that was known at the time of the Hydro One proceeding, in that to the extent that it was made aware by Ms. Lea in her submissions that it was unlikely that the report would be completed or that anything would be done by the Board until at the earliest sometime in the first quarter of next year.


Board Staff submits, like any policy review, it is not clear when the report will be finalized.  Yes, a draft report may be filed with the Board in October, and that may fall within the time line that this application will be complete from the evidentiary portion.  However, it's not clear when a final report will be delivered.


It is also not clear what, if anything, the Board will do with respect to that report.  There is no certainty with respect to the outcome of the report or what steps the Board will take.  And that is, in Board Staff's submission -- those two issues with respect to timing and certainty are sufficiently unclear to support the Board's practice in the past, and Board Staff submits an appropriate practice, to not hold proceedings on hold pending an ongoing policy.


As has been articulated by my friends, there are always a number of policy reviews ongoing by the Board at any one time, which policy reviews may or may not result -- may or may not result in something having a different approach being taken by the Board with respect to -- in this case, there may be a different methodology for cost allocation.


However, as Mr. Shepherd for Schools has indicated, the Board always does consider the implementation and transitional measures to put into effect, if there is a new policy, and there is no reason to suggest that the Board would not do so in this particular case.


Further -- and this is Board Staff's final point -- that the impact of not proceeding in this particular case, and if the rates are frozen or declared interim, would impact the other consumers, and not just the -- not just the city of Hamilton.


This could result in an unfair allocation of cost to all of the classes and, as has already been indicated previously, retroactive adjustments, depending on when those interim rates are finalized.


And for all these reasons, Board Staff submits that the motion should be denied.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Warren, do you have some reply?

Reply Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  I do.  I have eight points.  It is tiresome of me, but I have eight.


Let me deal first with the observations that my friend Mr. Rodger made about the city of Hamilton and Mr. McGuire.  He said, and I quote:

"Mr. McGuire has no interest in a principled approach."


Curiously enough, Mr. McGuire was asked that very question by Mr. Rodger, and Mr. McGuire said, Yes, I do.  I have an interest in a principled approach.  How you can make that submission in argument when it is directly contrary to what Mr. McGuire said is surprising.


I'd invite the Board to compare the relative candour of Mr. McGuire and that of Mr. Basilio.  Mr. Basilio elected to file an affidavit to which he appended no minutes, to which he appended no e-mails, and which he asserted that the audit report was final, when he knew that it wasn't.


Mr. Rodger asserts that an agreement was entered into, and the agreement he asserts is that my client agreed that the outcome of the audit would be determinative of the street light rates.  There is not one single iota of evidence in support of that, except Mr. Basilio's contention.


The record is all to the contrary.  The issues that were outstanding between my client and Horizon existed before the May 27th meeting, and they exist today.


Mr. Rodger says that my client has shifted from one strategy to the other.  I invite the Board, if it had the time, to go over the material in Mr. McGuire's affidavit, and they have been consistent throughout in identifying what the issues are.


Mr. Rodger knows full well -- he knows full well -- why the initial evidence filed by the city was withdrawn.  It's because it was based on numbers that were changed by the settlement agreement.  To refile the evidence would have required my client to pay to have all of those numbers redone based on the settlement numbers.  That was the practical reason the evidence was withdrawn.


Now, my friends say that what you've heard this morning is not relevant to the motion.  It is not relevant to the case.  First of all, we didn't invite the Basilio affidavit.  Why it was filed is a bit of a mystery, but there you go.  And we had to respond.


And the evidence you heard this morning is evidence within the parameters of this case, and what that evidence establishes is that there are any one of a number of issues that remain between the city and Horizon, and the hope is

-- the hope is that Navigant will provide some direction on what's the relationship between -- remember, Mr. Janigan in his letter -- he forgets the letter now -- the letter, which he said this issue of the responsibility for costs is an important one.  It is an important one.  It is a live one.  All of those issues we're hoping will be addressed by the Navigant report.  That's why it's relevant to the motion.  That's why it is evidence which you need to consider.


Even if the audit -- even if there were this agreement, which we say there is no agreement, but even if it were, it requires that the audit be final, and with apologies for my language, it ain't final, as Hamilton -- Horizon concedes.


My final point is this:  All of my friends say this is a dangerous precedent -- sorry, my penultimate point.  This is a dangerous precedent.  An equally dangerous precedent is to set rates based on information where there is an open question as to whether or not they will be just and reasonable.


Finally, I did not hear -- this is with respect to the re-opener issue.  I did not hear that the re-openers that my friend Ms. Helt referred to in the pre-filed evidence, that they were embodied in the settlement agreement.  If those re-openers and, in particular, the Board in its order, embodies the one that my friend Ms. Helt has referred to, which is changes arising out of the EB-2012-0383, if that's embodied in the final order of the Board, that addresses my client's concern.


Those are my reply submissions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

We, now having heard the motion, are going to take a break for an hour for lunch.  And when we come back, we are going to hear evidence on the settlement proposal.  So we are adjourned until --


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, with your leave, I'll withdraw –- sorry.

MS. LONG:  Excuse me, Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry, I thought you were –- with your leave, I intend to withdraw at this point.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

So we are adjourned until quartered to 2:00.

MS. HELT:  Ms. Long, I apologize.  One of the Board Members and myself have a meeting from 1:00 until 2:00 p.m. Can I ask for your indulgence that we start at 2:00 p.m.?

MS. LONG:  All right.  We will take an extra long lunch break and come back at 2:00.  That's fine.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:43 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:05 p.m.


MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Mr. Warren, parties, I can tell you that we are not going to be issuing a decision in the motion today or tomorrow, so Mr. Warren, you may want to take your leave.  I would invite you to stay, but I don't know --


MR. WARREN:  If I may be excused then.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

So Mr. Rodger, we understand that the panel has no preliminary comments on the settlement proposal and instead would prefer that we proceed by way of asking questions.

So if that is the case, maybe before you answer that, I will have you introduce the panel for the record, but we will remind each one of you -- is there anyone new who has not appeared before us?

So we will do your affirmation, but everyone else is reminded of the affirmation that they made last week when they testified.

MR. RODGER:  All right.  So perhaps we could have Ms. Diaz being affirmed, please, before we start.
HORIZON UTILITIES CORPORATION - PANEL 1, resumed


Danielle Diaz, Affirmed.

Jim Butler, Previously Affirmed.

Kathy Lerette, Previously Affirmed.

Indy Butany-DeSouza, Previously Affirmed.

John Basilio, Previously Affirmed.

Eileen Campbell, Previously Affirmed.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So briefly for the record, if I could just go around the table and everybody just introduce themselves and their title again, starting with you, Mr. Butler, please.

MR. BUTLER:  Jim Butler, director of engineering and operations, and I was responsible for the production of the DSP.

MS. LERETTE:  Kathy Lerette, vice-president of utility operations.  I'm responsible for the capital portion of the filing.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Indy Butany-DeSouza, vice-president, regulatory affairs, who's responsible for the application in its entirety.

MR. BASILIO:  John Basilio, senior vice-president and chief financial officer.

MS. CAMPBELL:  Eileen Campbell, vice-president of customer services.

MS. DIAZ:  Danielle Diaz, vice-president, finance.
Continued Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Rodger:

MR. RODGER:  Thank you, panel.

So just by the way of very, very brief introduction, Madam Chair, last week when I presented the settlement proposal to you and your fellow Board members, I did it in such a way that I tried to group the key issues coming out of the settlement agreement and organize them in such a way that related to the specific questions and issues that you had set out, and I did that in the hope that it was helpful to the Board, in terms of identifying errors that were consistent with the issues that you had raised.

Just before I turn it over to you, Madam Chair and the panel, there was one issue that came up before the break about the re-opener question.  And maybe I can just clarify and confirm what Ms. Helt went through, is that -- and as others have said, in the settlement proposal there was no suggestion, or it wasn't intended that there would be special treatment for Horizon or one-off treatment for Horizon.  And it was not intended to preclude changes from Board policy.

So the bottom line is that under the settlement proposal, if the Board directs that a change will take place, it will also apply to Horizon if the Board says so, and secondly, on the time lines that the Board says so.

So for example, if the Board were to say we're adopting a new policy or direction on something, and the changes will apply to all distributors at their next rebasing, well, in Horizon's case, that would be 2020 before that would come into effect.

On the other hand, if the Board said we have a new policy, it applies to all distributors, and would apply at their next annual adjustment, then within the five years Horizon would make that change at the next annual adjustment within the five-year term.

So I hope that answers your question and just clarifies our understanding of how that is described in the settlement proposal.

MS. LONG:  And if the Board said the change would take place for all distributors in the next two months?

MR. RODGER:  Then it would also apply.

MS. LONG:  Then it would also apply.

MR. RODGER:  Yes, ma'am.  And so the panel is now available, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:

MS. LONG:  Ms. Spoel is going to start with few questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I would like to turn, given that it is not so much questions on the settlement proposal itself, but on the materials underlying the settlement proposal as agreed to by the parties, and in particular, I'm interested in some aspects of the capital expenditures and distribution system plan.

I'd like to start, if I could, on page 12 of tab 6, or Exhibit 2, tab 6, schedule 1, which is your section on capital expenditures.  I will just give you a chance to turn that up.

Do you have that?

MR. BASILIO:  Yes, I have that.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Thank you.  And looking at this Figure 2. -- or 2-2, which is entitled "Kinectrics recommended investment versus Horizon Utilities' proposed investment", I take it that the differences are -- on these two charts arise from you, as in Horizon, taking the recommendations by Kinectrics in their report and then applying your judgment as to an appropriate pacing and timing of undertakings for various projects and spending on those projects.  Is that a correct assumption?

MR. BUTLER:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  And when I look at this table, it seems to me that Kinectrics recommended substantially more spending in 2015, '16, and '17 than Horizon is proposing to undertake.  And I have two -- well, the first question arising out of that is, what was your reason for ramping up the spending, ramping it up over time, as opposed to spending a fair amount in 2015 and then declining over the next few years?

MR. BUTLER:  A couple factors went into that.  We wanted to balance or mitigate rate impact on consumers.  If we'd spent or if we'd proposed to spend at the Kinectrics level right to initiate -- to begin with in 2015, it would have caused a very large rate impact because of the increase, so that's one.  We wanted to mitigate rate impact.  And the other one is also execution.  We wanted to be able to make sure that if we managed and increased our capital spend in kind of a ramped, gradual increase year over year, we would be able -- better able to execute on it.  A jump of that much in one year, we would worry about our execution, being able to increase, like, triple our capital investment in one year.

MS. SPOEL:  What sort of problems would that -- can you just give us some idea of the kinds of challenges that would present for you?

MR. BUTLER:  Many challenges, so there's -- capital investment require quite a long cycle time, especially in the renewal programs.  There is design time leading up to it.  There is resourcing, so resourcing associated with engineering design, support services like drafting and all the supplementary service.  There is field resources, which, you know -- so ramping all of that up, the materials, ordering inventory, a jump that large would be very challenging.

MS. SPOEL:  And do you see any -- well, I mean -- well, go back a step.  I understand that the whole tenor of the Kinectrics report was that there is substantial investment required to bring your facilities up to par, if you wish, given the age and, perhaps, lack of investment over the last few years, or have I mischaracterized that?

MR. BUTLER:  It's -- the Kinectrics study provided an assessment of the health index of the assets, and the study didn't have any position on to why they are in that condition, but it's mainly much to do with the demographics and the age of the equipment, and it identified a large number of asset categories, with quite a substantial percentage of the assets in what they consider a poor or very poor health index.

It's -- the health index is done on a five-point scale, or five-category scale.

DR. ELSAYED:  Sorry, it was your decision then as to which assets fall in which category?

MR. BUTLER: That gave us a guideline as to what asset categories -- we took a look at the health index of the asset category, and also the investment forecast for the asset category.

For instance, could you have an asset category with a very low volume, so although it could have very, very poor health overall, because there is a limited number of units a very -- relatively small investment, it wouldn't pose as big a risk.

There are some asset categories -- and the underground primary cable is an example.  It's got quite poor health, but because there's such a volume of it and the expense to replace is so large, even though it may appear from the straight percentage of assets in very poor or poor health, the magnitude investment required is very substantial.

So we take a combination of the health of the assets and the investment required to address the health of the assets.

DR. ELSAYED:  So just maybe one follow-up question.

I'm trying to understand what Kinectrics' role was in this circumstance.  For example, Ms. Spoel talked about the pacing of the capital investment, what went into your distribution system plan and so on.  Is that -- what role did they have -- did they play in your development of the plan?

MR. BUTLER:  They -- their assessment gave us -- so it provided the health of the assets, and based -- and kind of a forecast of total investment over the 20-year cycle of what would be required and, you know -- as seen on figure 2.2 here, they gave a recommended profile.  So where we use that is we had used their identification of which assets and how much -- so there is 22 asset categories.  So the health of each asset category and the investment for each category kind of identified to us priority areas that needed to be addressed.  And then we targeted our renewal programs in those areas, but we had to balance off -- we realized that it would not be affordable and there would be execution challenges to invest at their recommended profile.

So that's why we have our Horizon recommended profile in this table.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Butler, are there any things that Kinectrics recommended to you that you, based on knowing your system the best and knowing your customers the best, you said:  We don't need to do that?

Or is it an issue of:  We don't need to do that now; we're going to do that in ten years or 15 years out?

MR. BUTLER:  There were a few examples.  The one thing is Kinectrics' analysis is done on an asset basis.  So they may identify wood poles as one asset category, so they could identify an asset -- or investment requirement for wood poles, but when we invest in renewal programs it usually is more than one asset that you are renew at any one time.  If you are rebuilding a pole line, you are doing poles and wires and insulators and all the support material.

So we had to use our judgment on, when they identified a asset category, what is the best program to renew the assets in that area, what -- should we combine asset categories into one program.  So we did -- there is a little bit of that going into it.

Sorry, what was the second part of your question?


MS. LONG:  No, I was just trying to get to judgment, and whether or not -- and how judgment was -- exercised.

MR. BUTLER:  Yes.  In some of the areas -- substations for example -- they identify some of the -- you know, our municipal substation assets that require renewal investment.  And our 4 and 8-kV renewal plan involves the decommissioning of these stations over a long period of time.

So some areas where they've identified an investment, we have looked at it and say:  Hey, we know that station will be decommissioned in five years, so we can manage that not through renewal investment but through decommissioning the asset, if it's done in a short to medium range.  And we applied some judgment on that basis, yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  On the question of judgment, if I take you to page 37 of the settlement proposal.

MR. BUTLER:  I don't --


DR. ELSAYED:  Just restates the issue, like, the two issues that we said we would be interested -- I can read it to you.  The issue says:
"Are the capital expenditures and the capital additions component of the revenue requirement for 2015 to 2019 as set out in the custom application appropriate?"


That's the first question.  And:

"Is the rationale for planning voice choices appropriate and adequately explained and supported, considering..."


And I'm going to pick two of the items listed below, "Benchmarking of cost" and "Tradeoffs with OM&A."

So I guess my first question is:  What if any type of benchmarking costs did you do?  Maybe I'll let you answer that question first.

MR. BUTLER:  On the capital side, we didn't really benchmark ourselves against other LDCs; we benchmarked ourselves against ourselves.

So we have a number -- and I think we, in the DSP in the "Performance measurement" section we talk about we have a cost performance index and a schedule performance index.

So we monitor year over year, against ourselves, the efficiency by which we construct our capital investments and our planning, our design cycles.  So we measure against ourselves, but we did not do extensive benchmarking.

DR. ELSAYED:  Yourselves in the execution?

MR. BUTLER:  yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  But how do you determine the right -- I guess my key question is:  How do you know that this level of capital expenditure, and not half of that amount or double that amount, is the right amount of the investment?

MR. BUTLER:  We use the results of the Kinectrics AC8 --


DR. ELSAYED:  So that was what --


MR. BUTLER:  That's what guided us.

And to verify this, to be reasonable, we did engage an additional outside third party, KPMG, to do an assurance review just to make sure that -- an investment that size, we thought it warranted.  And they reviewed the results and confirmed that the calculations were done consistently and the approach was, you know, best practice and they were quite –- you know, they substantiated the results of Kinectrics.

DR. ELSAYED:  And these reviews were limited to capital, or did they include OM&A as well?

MR. BUTLER:  This was with capital.

DR. ELSAYED:  Was there anything that you did to achieve that proper balance between your capital and OM&A?  Obviously they're linked.

MR. BUTLER:  They are linked, but with the capital investments that we have, like, we have a considerable volume of assets that are quite -- a backlog of assets nearing or at end of life.  So the investments that we're making in 2015 to 2019 -- and we address this in some of the IRs -- we will realize some OM&A savings by making -- through these investments, but we really won't see significant OM&A savings until beyond 2019 from these capital investments.

DR. ELSAYED:  I wasn't thinking more of savings as much as a solution to a condition of an asset could be more maintenance, as opposed to invested capital?

MR. BUTLER:  Some of the assets that we are really focussing on or our two key renewal programs is the underground primary XLPE and the renewal of our 4 kV and 8 kV distribution systems.  Those are assets that –- the investment doesn't have a large impact on OM&A on those.

We don't go out and maintain a 50-year old pole just because it's 50 years old.  We do the inspections and testing to make sure it's viable strength, but if it’s nearing the end of life, there is not maintenance per se you can do on a wood distribution pole that would extend the life, versus the option of investing in it.

In some of these assets, you don't really have that trade-off.

Substation assets, like I said, those are a more viable option.  And where Kinectrics has identified you have some poor conditioning, because we know that we are decommissioning these in the next five- to ten-year timeframe, we will manage that through increased OM&A, rather than renewal capital expenditure at this point.

MS. LERETTE:  One thing we do look at on the maintenance side is we have engaged third-party asset management experts like Navigant Consulting, to review our maintenance programs to ensure that we are not over-maintaining or under-maintaining assets, and look at what the leading best practices are for ongoing maintenance of the system.

So we do that periodically.  And I think we included one of Navigant's reports in the response to one of the interrogatories.

DR. ELSAYED:  And your asset management plan includes both capital and OM&A?

MR. BUTLER:  No.  The asset management plan outlines -- or the DSP, sorry, outlines the capital investments

MR. LERETTE:  And the plan maintenance programs.

MR. BUTLER:  Yes, correct, and the plan maintenance programs.

MS. SPOEL:  So if you -- I guess this is a slightly related question.  If you turn to page 24 of the Exhibit 2, tab 6, schedule 1, there's an example there in figure 2.5 of the XLPE health at next distribution at proposed investment levels.

And my observation, looking at this chart -- and I want you to tell me if I've kind of got it right -- is that things get worse before they get better.

And I take it -- so first, is that a fair comment that the proportion of your facilities in poor and very poor condition is going to increase before you can start getting it to come back?

MR. BUTLER:  And for this -- you are referring to Figure 2.5?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, correct.

MR. BUTLER:  Yes, in this asset category, in the first five-year window it is essentially the same.  There are some minor differences, but the goal for that was to make sure to not degrade, but it's very -- it's approximately the same as it is today.

MS. SPOEL:  Right, so -- and I take it the reason that happens is that as you do some work on some part of the system and move it, say, from the green category to the blue category, other parts are getting older and probably will be more failures, and they'll move in from yellow to red or bright yellow, so they'll --


MR. BUTLER:  Yes.  That is correct.

MS. SPOEL:  -- ratchet down the chain, and you can only -- and I think -- and your evidence before was that you could only -- I don't know if you could say it here too -- you can only do the work so fast.

MR. BUTLER:  That is correct.

MS. SPOEL:  And so you have -- you don't -- you've got to get started, but it's going to take a while before you can --


MR. BUTLER:  That is correct.  It's --


MS. SPOEL:  -- actually make a big dent in it.

MR. BUTLER:  This is the asset category identified by Kinectrics requiring the largest investment, just because of the volume of assets that are in the ground, so because of the backlog of assets that are at or near end of life in this one category in particular, it takes a considerable amount of time to start to turn the tide, so to say, and start to see a material improvement in the asset health, in this asset category especially.

MS. SPOEL:  And what percentage of the spending, in your -- in this five-year period would -- capital spending would be on this one category?

MR. BUTLER:  I --


MS. SPOEL:  Approximately.

MR. BUTLER:  Oh.  I know we go from $2 million a year currently to about $11 million a year by 2019, but I don't -- I --


MS. SPOEL:  That's good enough.  That just gives me an idea.

MR. BUTLER:  Yeah, that's the area of largest increase.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just want to go to one aspect of the settlement proposal that talks about returning revenue requirements that are related to lower-than-forecast capital to the ratepayer.  You present that as an incentive for you to complete your capital program.  Otherwise --


MR. BUTLER:  That's correct.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- any other expenditure will go to the ratepayer.

Given that -- what you've described in terms of the condition of your assets, can you see a realistic scenario where that might happen if it does -- like, what would cause you not to spend your capital program, capital investment plan?

MS. LERETTE:  Typically the things that would cause us to underspend would be if we were to experience a significant storm that takes our crews, both our internal crews and contract crews, away from the capital program, if we've had a -- two significant storms in the past year, and that really -- we did see a slow-down in our capital work.

The significant weather issues in the wintertime also slow down capital work a little bit too.  Those are two big drivers.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  But other than occupying the resources in other ways, there wouldn't be --


MS. LERETTE:  We should be able to execute as planned.

DR. ELSAYED:  Should be able to execute it.

MS. LERETTE:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Butler, I wonder if you could shed some light on something for me.  As I read through your material -- and you go through a description, I guess, of each of the main sections of your distribution area, Hamilton mountain, for example, and you go through and give a little synopsis about operational challenges and things like that, what struck me is in many of these areas you have a SAIDI that is better than your utility average, and I guess I'm wondering, how do you explain to a ratepayer that rates are going up partially because of capital investment in areas where they may -- they may think that the SAIDI is fine.  I mean, you've identified that it could be better, but it's not bad, and how do you make a decision that capital expenditure needs to be done in those areas?

MR. BUTLER:  To my recollection, where we're focusing the large investments in the renewal programs, it generally is areas with poor and declining SAIDI.  Typically if we saw an area that was significantly above our system average, that typically wouldn't be an area of focus.  We try to focus on the areas that are poorer.

So -- but if you have a reference I can speak to it --


MS. LONG:  No, I mean, I just read through a couple areas, and it seemed like the SAIDI was good and it seemed like work was being done there, but maybe it is not the majority of the work that you're undertaking.

MR. BUTLER:  No, the major areas -- and the Hamilton Mountain, for example, is a good example.  We have a -- north of the Lincoln Alexander Parkway is actually an older area, but it's overhead of 4 KV, and that area is scheduled for renewal, but it is not scheduled for renewal until 2025 and beyond, where the area south of that is newer, but it's all underground, and that's where -- and there is a very big distinction in reliability between the two areas, the older overhead, because overhead -- the overhead assets generally last a little longer.  The reliability is good.  We're not investing there at the moment.  But on the southern end of that where the reliability is poor, that is -- we are addressing that through the renewal of the primary cable.

So we are trying to focus -- you know, the Kinectrics report gives us identification of assets and what assets are in poorer shape and how much investment, but we really do let the reliability of the areas dictate and give us an indication of where we should be investing the money.  We do take that into consideration.

MS. LERETTE:  And we also look at the trend of SAIDI too.  It is not just one snapshot in time.  We've looked at SAIDI over the last five years, for example, and it's going in the wrong direction.  And as far as the Hamilton Mountain is a good example of the SAIDI has a negative trend, but we are also seeing an increase in cable failures, you know, this year, you know, two or three times what we would see a few years ago.  So the trend is getting worse, and we are starting to see these things come into reality where we are seeing extreme cable failures at a higher rate than in the past.

So we can kind of narrow it down -- when we look at outages specific to a geographical area, we can have a tighter look on exactly what's happening.

MS. LONG:  I'll ask my next question:  With respect to customer engagement, which is obviously a very important part of this application, how is it that you have gone about explaining to your customers that in 2015 they can expect a bill increase of, I think it's 5.6 percent on the distribution end?  How have you gone about doing that?  And I'm talking about specific bill impact, as opposed to general concepts of infrastructure renewal, things like that.


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So for the -- for the purpose of -- I'll try not to be too squeaky -- for the purpose of explaining customer engagement in the context of the DSP as such relates to this application, we undertook several points of customer engagement.

Historically Horizon has a history, and we've included it in Exhibit 1, a history of annual surveys with our customers, so we've done annual surveys since 2001.  We've been reaching out to customers.  We have constant contact with our customers on a daily basis through our call centre.

For the purpose of this application, we'd engaged a third party, Innovative Research Group, to collaborate with us on making, if you will, making the DSP, the distribution system plan, palatable to customers, so explaining to them what our plans were from 2015 through 2019, and we used multiple vehicles through which to do so.

So we put together a distribution system plan workbook, a hard copy workbook that was shared with GS less than 50 and greater than 50 customers through focus groups.  We met with our large-use customers, as I think we discussed last week in the oral hearing, one-on-one, and then we had Innovative Research Group do a subsequent survey back with the large-use customers, and then for residential customers, as well as customers in general, that same distribution system plan workbook, which is included in the evidence as appendix D to the DSP, that distribution system plan workbook was posted on our website for a month with the opportunity for customers to participate in an online survey and give us their feedback, and as well for residential customers we did a telephone survey.

Within the distribution system plan workbook we -- based on the bill impacts that we knew at the time, based on where we were at in the application, we laid out the bill impacts by customer category -- by customer class, excuse me.  And in the context of explaining the work that we had underway, we talked about the need to renew the distribution system, as well as our own facilities.  We addressed major areas of capital expenditure, including the 4 and 8 kV renewal program and the cross-link, the XLEP programs as well, in the distribution system plan workbook, in driving towards explaining what the bill impact would be at that point in time.

MS. SPOEL:  What sort of uptake did you get from the online portion of the survey?  Again, just as a ballpark kind of --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Very limited.  Perhaps -- and as we're told by the third party, Innovative, that undertook the work for us, it's not surprising, but I think -- if you can give me a minute I can actually get you the statistic.

Do you have it?  Thanks.

For the online workbook we had 1,049 unique investors come to the workbook landing page.  Of that, 333 visitors continued beyond just the landing page.  And 111 customers -- so 10 percent -- completed the entire workbook, approximately 10 percent.

MS. SPOEL:  Are there other -- as a result of that, have you given thought to other methods of reaching out to, say, the residential customers to give them a notion of what's likely to be coming up in future cases?

I mean, I realize -- this is an interesting approach, but we didn't get a lot of updates.  I am wondering if there are a other things you considered as a result of the learning from this.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We viewed the customer engagement as part of the distribution system plan, so related to -- if you will, related to the application specifically, as compared to ongoing customer engagement that we do on a regular basis, as a new area and certainly an area of transition for us.

As a number of people have remarked, in the sector this is a time of change.  And certainly it's an interesting notion to try and explain to your customers exactly what you, as stewards of your system and who know your system best, expect to be doing to the system over the next five years or the next however many years, and how that's going to impact their rates.

We've seen some -- and I'm not going to presume or assume that this is the means by which we'll proceed in the future, but there is obviously an ever-expanding uptake on social media.  We see greater interest from our customers in liking us on Facebook and following us on Twitter, and certainly that's true during storm activity.

Now, Twitter is, as I'm sure you will know -- and I'll get the number of characters incorrect, but certainly we couldn't encapsulate the entire distribution system plan in that limited number of characters per tweet.  I'm told 140 characters.  In regulatory, I can't even achieve anything in 140 characters.

[Laughter]

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  But the point being that it would be difficult to not take a look at those new forms of outreach, particularly as you can you consider that different demographics in the population, meaning different age groups in the population, are really taking to the web, social media, as we've been seeing.

So it is a time of transition for us.  Certainly this was our first foray into it, and we did try to use both different vehicles, as well as using the worldwide web and our website as sort of the one single vehicle for mass penetration, but certainly continue to refine the same over the next year to two years as we launch into a 2020 application.

DR. ELSAYED:  I just want to go back quickly to my favourite issue of benchmarking.

I understand the answer to the previous question about benchmarking against yourself in terms of how you do with time.

But as you know, there have been increased focus by the Board to move towards external benchmarking as well.  And just -- I'm curious as to what you see as possible hurdles, if any, in doing that going forward, benchmarking both your capital expenditure, OM&A, or anything else against other entities as well.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Well, I guess what I would start with is that, as Ms. Lerette and Mr. Butler have said, we do have a number of interrogatories and some evidence that points to how we benchmark ourselves, to some extent internally.

The OEB, as you know, tabulates the annual yearbook and certainly has taken significant effort over the past 12 to 24 months, working with Pacific Economics Group in order to revise the benchmarking approach that it is undertaking for the sector.

So to an extent on total factor productivity and how we compare as an LDC compared to our peers, certainly we pay close attention to the PEG report and the annual outcome on where we land as a utility relative to our peers in terms of cohort groupings.

So that is probably one of the single most important factors that we bear in mind when you consider all the reporting and Triple-Rs that we do to the Board on an annual basis.  And hopefully, as is tabulated cumulatively and comparatively amongst our peers, same sort of metrics, and hopefully based on the same sort of parameters, we pay close attention to how we compare over the sector.

And what we've been seeing -- increasing investment in our systems, in our processes and in our capital expenditures notwithstanding, we're still quite strong comparatively.  And certainly that's a notion that the parties and Horizon as the applicant agreed to in the settlement proposal, so much so that we agreed to an efficiency adjustment, that we recognize that benchmarking is important, that ongoing methods of demonstrating productivity to your customer -- to our customers is of great importance.  And so it's for that reason that collectively we agree to an efficiency adjustment.  It's important to us to be efficient, to continue to be efficient, and the parties to the settlement proposal were equally saying to us:  Well, it's important to us too that you continue to prove that you're going to efficiently operate over these next five years.

And that's culminated in the efficiency adjustment that's included in the proposal.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MS. LERETTE:  If I could just add, I just want to go back a little bit in your question on benchmarking for the capital distribution system and the construction.

So there are a couple of barriers there.  We do benchmark against ourselves.  We have activity-based costing, and we can look at our unit costs year over year and try to continuously improve those costs, but when we go to other utilities or our peers and we network with them, not all have activity-based costing.  So we don't all track unit costs the same.

Our design and our construction standards differ between utilities, depending on what kind of systems you have and what voltages you have.  So that's problematic to benchmark.

And field conditions are different.  It is much different changing a pole in downtown Toronto than it is out in the country in Hamilton, for instance.  So it is very difficult to benchmark.

And I don't think there is enough utilities out there that are actually tracking unit costs to the same level that we are, that we can actually share that information.

So that's why we just do internal benchmarking now.  We just don't have peers out there that we can share the information with at this time.

MS. LONG:  On page 44 of the settlement agreement, you discuss the increase in OM&A between 2015 and 2019, and I'd like to get a better understanding of the reason for the bump of 8.4 percent in the first year, I guess to get to the base level that you are then going to add 1.47 percent to for the remainder of the term.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, we started with 2013 and an adjustment off of that, given that at the time we were working through the proceeding through to settlement, we hadn't completed the 2014.  Obviously we haven't completed our 2014 fiscal year.  There was discussion about favourable variances year to date, and I think generally -- and I mean, I understand this in the context of settlement, some concern as to whether we'd achieve our 2014 budget, and so could we use 2014 as the basis for adjustments through the remaining IR period.

And that was the principle reason to backtrack to 2013.  Here are actual results.  I think we can see in 2014 that we have a cost structure necessarily as outlined in the application that's exceeding the 2013 base, but we do have some favourable variances year to date.

And so that was the basis for adding -- not 8.4 percent so much, but an amount on top of 2013 actual, as opposed to working with 2014 actuals.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just to follow up, I think the way it was explained and the proposal is that that increase was for you to add resources, and I wasn't sure what that meant.  That's the term that was used, that $4.6 million that was added to your actual 2013 was to add resources.

MR. BASILIO:  Right, to add resources as set out in the application, resources to support OM&A, you know, various elements of our programs.

DR. ELSAYED:  We are talking about human resources -- like people?

MR. BASILIO:  Not so much people, but elements like GIS and OMS require additional ongoing servicing.  Some of our other IT programs, such as ERP, we're undertaking an upgrade of our ERP elements of that, our OM&A -- including -- there was a migrate -- we've migrated to, as I think many distributors will for IT services, they're migrating from capital-based investments to OM&A-based investments, things like cloud computing.  Cloud computing generally shows up in a maintenance agreement, as opposed to the physical acquisition of hardware.

And so in there there are some tradeoffs as well.  For example, the cloud computing ended up saving some capital, but rather than showing up in capital and depreciation, it shows up as a bump in OM&A.

DR. ELSAYED:  These are initiatives that would help you -- you could realize some --


MR. BASILIO:  Productivity, and specifically as it relates to ERP, we have committed to productivity as a result of those investments in the later years.

MS. LONG:  So Mr. Basilio, if I do the math right, is it about 3 percent per year over the term of the 2015 to 2019?  If I add the bump and then the 1.47, is that what it works out to be?

MR. BASILIO:  From 2013 to 2019?

MS. LONG:  Well, I guess we're starting with the base rate of how we're getting to 2015 is you are adding 8.4 percent to 2013 and -- 2013 actuals?  Is that -- is that right?

MR. BASILIO:  8.4 percent to 2013 actuals.  I mean, that sounds --


MS. LONG:  I mean, have you figured it out, what it is per year, like, what it is with the 8.4 percent and your adder for each year?  Does it work out to be 2.5, 3 percent each year in OM&A?  I'm trying to get a sense.  I think part of your argument is that we're putting a lot into capital, which is going to help us reduce OM&A, so I'm trying to get a sense of what your actual OM&A spend in a percentage is.

MR. BASILIO:  Right, but perhaps if I could -- so I think -- I mean, that sounds about right, but if I could -- there's an interrogatory, and it speaks to these points on how our cost structure has grown specifically.  I think it's 1-EP-3.

In 1-EP-3 we tried to do some productivity -- some cost structure growth analysis relative to the -- relative to Horizon Utilities.  We have provided some evidence on what we believe are actual inflation as compared to the Board's benchmark, and to the Board's benchmark, and from 2011 on a cumulative average -- compound average growth rate basis, our OM&A is growing about 3.2 percent across eight years, and some of that necessarily to support some of the increases in our programs are set out in the application, so it is about 3.2 percent.

It is actually less than that now as a result of the settlement.  I haven't gone back to recompute this, but our original application asked -- the compound annual growth rate was 3.2 percent since our last application.  It will be less than that now, of course, because we're taking, compared to this, roughly 7 or 8 percent out as a result of the settlement by 2019.

MS. LONG:  Just one final question.  On page 25 of 63 of the settlement proposal, table 8, you set out what the average customer bill impacts are.  And I'm wondering if you can just explain to me, 2015 versus 2014, we see an increase of 4. -- 5.47 for residential and then 19.54 for GS under 50.

I won't go through them all, but I'm wondering if you can explain to me the rationale for the bigger bump in the first year not being smoothed over the rest of the year and what the reasoning is for that.

MR. BASILIO:  Well, the reasoning is we require the cash flow to fund the investments.  I mean, this is about matching cash flow to the investment profile, the OM&A profile, and so to smooth rates, you know, creates a cash-flow deficiency relative to the level of investment where we're proposing in the application.

If we were going to smooth rates, we would -- I mean, -- the rates drive cash flow, so it's a matter of matching your cash-flow profile to your investment profile.  If that's -- maybe I'm --


MS. LONG:  You know, I'm asking you about options.  I mean, I'm sure you looked at many different things, and this is where you landed.  Obviously investment decisions are made based on cash flow, but they're also independent decisions that you make about what is palatable to the customer and what you need to do.  I mean, there's striking that balance, obviously, which we are going to try and strike, between, you know, prices and reliability, infrastructure that you need to build, and rates that are acceptable to consumers.

So I just wanted to get your explanation as to how you came to this decision.

MR. BASILIO:  Perhaps I didn't take your meaning in the question then.  I think we looked, generally speaking, to the Board's general policy on where rate mitigation is required, and so this is the distribution element, obviously, of the bill.  On a total bill basis this would be less than -- this would be -- and I think maybe Ms. Butany has this.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So we also looked at -- it's -- at the Board's policies, both the Chapter 2 filing requirements that were available when we were filing the application, recognizing that potentially there is the notion that there's no filing requirements for a custom IR, but that we should be guided by the Chapter 2 filing requirements, so there were the filing requirements that were available to us, and that then were updated as recently as July of 2014 for cost-of-service applications.

In both instances we referred to 2.11.12.2, which is the mitigation plan approaches, and we were very conscious of whether any rate class was over 10 percent -- the 10 percent threshold on total bill, and bearing in mind both the impact to the customer and the cash-flow needs of the utility to undertake the programs that we've put in place for each year of 2015 through 2019, we determined that the way forward and the one that we've included both in the application and then subsequently in the settlement proposal would achieve both.

DR. ELSAYED:  But I'm assuming in optimizing your asset management plan that what you ended up with -- that you've looked at options.  Obviously you do have some flexibility in moving investments around a little bit.  There is no distinct, clear date by which you have to do something.  You can move it a little bit, but I'm assuming what you ended up with is your best optimized plan, as far as the right time and the fact that you cannot -- you cannot mitigate that any further, I suppose.

MR. BASILIO:  Absolutely.  That really is what drives the outcome.  As you saw, as Mr. Butler presented earlier, we had an independent consultant advising us in the first instant that we should be spending much more on our capital program.  And for the reasons Mr. Butler outlined -- execution risks, striking a balance with affordability -- we looked at those options and came to these outcomes.

We also deferred some investments out to the next IR term.  And the most significant of those is we are in need of a CIS upgrade.  We have a CIS -- and many LDCs are going through this now, and I'm sure you've seen -- these have come before the Board panels, where other LDCs are upgrading their CIS.

The last time we installed a CIS was 2000, I think, 1999, 2000, where -- we need to do an upgrade.  That upgrade, what we've seen in other rate cases have been upwards of $20 million.  That's some -- we're managing risks on a number of investments and thinking about where our flexibility is.


That is something that we will be considering for the next IR term, and starting to undertake some investigation of it in this IR term.

But we certainly looked at many different scenarios, and this, in our view, is the balanced plan.

I certainly do want to express some concern for our customers.  I would be the first is say that a 5 and a half percent increase is significant.  Certainly it is significant relative to inflation, and for GS greater-than-50.

But we're balancing that against what we think our customer needs in terms of investment.  Particularly distribution system investment, there is an urgent need -- as provided in all the evidence -- to get on with those investments.

There is a momentum.  At least, you know, this is the accountant's view of things like SAIDI and SAIFI and reliability indices that these things -- you can't stop the deterioration of those things in their tracks with a single year of investment.  There is a momentum behind them.  We are seeing deteriorating statistics in those areas.  We have to get out in front of them.

We think this is a plan, a well-paced plan where we are in front of the problem, where if we can -- if the Board approves the settlement and the revenue requirements that we are out in front of that problem, and that we can deal with it in such a way that, you know, perhaps there weren't -- won't be these sorts of rate -- sharp rate increases moving forward.

And you can see that the trend lines do mitigate over time.  There is a bit of a priming of a pump here in this IR term, and then it starts to neutralize, but there are other investments we'll have to get on with as well, such as CIS and, you know, continuing investment and process improvement and things of that nature.

So we do present this to you as -- this is our view of the balanced plan, having considered a number of options, having looked at all the parts and trying to balance them out.  We are cognizant that we are asking our customers a lot, for a lot, but we think this is in their best interests for the long term.

DR. ELSAYED:  How long is your investment plan?

MR. BASILIO:  It's 20 years -- Jim?  20 years presently.

MS. LONG:  Panel, those are all our questions.  Thanks very much.

So with that, Mr. Rodger, I think we are adjourned until tomorrow morning for your argument in-chief.

MR. RODGER:  Yes, Madam Chair.  And we're starting at 9:30?

MS. LONG:  9:30.

MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:59 p.m.
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